
1 

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
Meeting of the Council 

Agenda 

Date/Time: May  9, 2022 - 9:00 AM – 4:00 PM 

May 10, 2022 – 9:00 AM – 12:00 PM 

Location: Videoconference – MS Teams 

Item 
No. 

Item Item Lead Approx 
Time 

May 9, 2022 
1. Call to Order 

Westfall-Connor 5 min 2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 9, 2022 

4. Items for Decision 
4.1 Presentation of the Draft 2021 Audited Financial 

Statements 
(Guest: B. MacKenzie, Hilborn – confirmed – 9:00 AM) 

4.2 Appointment of the Auditor for 2022 

 Westfall-Connor 

 Boon 

   60 min 

   10 min 

5. Council Evaluations 
5.1 2021 Annual Council Performance Evaluation 

Results 
5.2 Council Meeting Evaluation of February 8, 2022 

Westfall-Connor 15 min 

6. Consent Agenda 
6.1 Minutes of February 8, 2022 

  6.2 Actions Arising from Minutes of February 8, 2022 
6.3 2022 – Q1 Registrar’s Report 
6.4 2022 – Q1 Committee Reports 
6.5 2021 – Annual Committee Reports 

Westfall-Connor 5 min 
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A consent agenda is a bundle of items that is voted on, without 
discussion, as a package. It differentiates between routine 
matters not needing explanation and more complex issues 
needing examination. The Chair will ask if anyone wishes to 
remove an item from the consent agenda. Any Council member 
may request an item be removed so it can be discussed. To test 
whether an item should be included in the consent agenda, ask: 

Is this item self-explanatory and uncontroversial? Or 
does it contain an issue that warrants Council 
discussion? 

• Is this item for information only? Or is it needed for
another meeting agenda issue?

Break – 10:30 -10:45 AM 
7. Items for Decision 

7.1 2023 Annual Fee Review   Boon    120 min 

Lunch – 1:00 – 1:45 PM 

7.2 BN – Proposed By-law Amendment: Deputy 
Registrar 

7.3 BN – Strategic Planning 
7.4 BN – Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 

  Boon 

  Boon 
  Boon 

10 min 

15 min 
15 min 

8. Quarterly Reporting 
8.1 2022 – Q1 Financial Report 
8.2 2022 – Q1 Workplan Report 

8.2.1 Risk Based Assessment Program 
8.2.2 Jurisprudence Program 
8.2.2 General Regulation Proposal  

  8.3 2022 – Q1 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
Report 

8.4 2022 – Q1 Discipline Committee Report 

Ralph-Edwards 
Boon  

Brennand 

Hargreaves 

15 min 
40 min 

10 min 

15 min 
9. New Business 

10. Items for Information 
10.1 2022 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan 
10.2 2022 – Q1 Organizational Risk Register 

White 
Boon 

10 min 
10 min 

11. Adjournment  Westfall-Connor 2 min 

May 10, 2022 
1. Call to Order 

  Westfall-Connor 5 min 2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 10, 2022 
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4. Election of Executive Officer   Westfall-Connor 30 min 

5. In-Camera Session 
 
 

  Westfall-Connor 30 min 

6. Adjournment   Westfall-Connor 2 min 

Council will go in-camera in accordance with the RHPA, Schedule 2, 
Section 7(2)(d) to discuss personnel matters. 



BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date:  April 29, 2022 

From: K. Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee 

Re: Approval of 2021 audited CMTO Financial Statements 

Issue:  Council is asked to review and approve the 2021 audited financial statements. 

Background: 

The CMTO’s financial audit for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, was undertaken by 
Hilborn LLP, the CMTO’s auditors, as appointed by Council. 

The draft audited Financial Statements were presented by Hilborn LLP to the Executive 
Committee at its April 21, 2022 meeting. 

Discussion: 

Presented to Council by Hilborn LLP, are the attached draft 2021 audited CMTO Financial 
Statements for fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. 

Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA) 
In 2021, a contribution in the amount of $329,5191 was made to the CMTCA. Effective January 
1, 2022, the College entered into a one-year funding agreement with CMTCA to provide fees, in 
the amount of $336,480. The funds will be used by CMTCA to develop and deliver an 
accreditation process to provide a mechanism for quality assurance and continuous 
improvement of entry-level massage therapy education programs.  

In 2021, subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the Executive 
Committee, a transfer of $335,999 was approved from unrestricted net assets to net assets 
internally restricted for national initiatives. The internally restricted balance matches the 
commitment the College has made over the next fiscal year pursuant to the funding agreement 
with CMTCA. 

1 2020 - $336,306 

Agenda Item 4.1
For Approval



Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) 
Centennial College’s Applied Research, Innovation and Entrepreneurship Services (ARIES) 
ended on December 31, 2021. In the current year, subject to the direction of the Council upon 
the recommendation of the Executive Committee, a transfer of $250,000 was approved from 
Internally Restricted for Massage Therapy Research to unrestricted net assets.  

The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of 
the Executive Committee.  

Draft Motions: 

1. THAT Council approves the transfer of $335,999 from the Internally restricted for
national initiatives to Unrestricted net assets.

2. THAT Council approves the transfer of $250,000 from the Internally restricted
for massage therapy research to Unrestricted net assets.

3. THAT Council approves the draft Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2021.

Attachments: 

Attachment 1 - Draft 2021 Audited Financial Statements 
Attachment 2 - F18 Surplus Retention Policy 



COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2021

Attachment 1



Independent Auditor's Report

To the Council of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (the "College"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the statements of operations, changes
in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the  financial position
of the College as at December 31, 2021,  and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, other than
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of our auditor’s report. If, based on the
work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the College to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the College.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control of the College.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the College to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
TBD Licensed Public Accountants
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Statement of Financial Position

December 31 2021 2020
$ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash 11,403,955 7,261,399
Short-term investments (note 3) 426,420 1,133,884
Investments (note 4) 1,209,607 452,639
Prepaid expenses 288,043 233,012

13,328,025 9,080,934

Investments (note 4) 6,456,606 6,348,904
Capital assets (note 5) 538,222 654,239
Intangible assets (note 6) 4,760 33,760

6,999,588 7,036,903

20,327,613 16,117,837

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7) 3,229,202 3,642,836
Deferred registration fees 11,062,732 6,260,963

14,291,934 9,903,799

Deferred lease incentives (note 8) 66,976 80,371

14,358,910 9,984,170

NET ASSETS

Invested in capital and intangible assets 542,982 687,999
Internally restricted for complaints and discipline (note 11) 1,500,000 1,500,000
Internally restricted for national initiatives (note 12) 336,480 330,000
Internally restricted for massage therapy research (note 13) - 250,000
Unrestricted 3,589,241 3,365,668

5,968,703 6,133,667

20,327,613 16,117,837

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Approved on behalf of the Council:

  President

  Vice-President
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
$ $

Revenues
Registration fees 11,512,041 11,425,141
Examination fees (refunds) (24,575) 378,225
Investment income (note 9) 162,483 217,456

11,649,949 12,020,822

Expenses
Council and committees 262,477 265,840
Complaints and discipline (note 10) 2,896,499 3,193,038
Examinations - 404,670
Quality assurance 575,609 410,729
Communications 81,367 88,185
Salaries and benefits 5,487,521 5,164,298
Consulting fees 255,683 389,053
Professional fees 99,344 174,400
Rent and operating costs (note 8) 561,179 589,534
Office and general 1,091,403 914,528
Contributions to national initiatives (note 12) 329,519 336,306
Amortization - capital assets 145,312 169,792
Amortization - intangible assets 29,000 55,237

11,814,913 12,155,610

Excess of expenses over revenues for year (164,964) (134,788)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended December 31

Invested in
capital and
intangible

assets

Internally
restricted for

complaints
and discipline

Internally
restricted for

national
initiatives

Internally
restricted for

massage
therapy

research Unrestricted
2021
Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year 687,999 1,500,000 330,000 250,000 3,365,668 6,133,667

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses
over revenues) for year - - (329,519) - 164,555 (164,964)

Amortization of capital assets (145,312) - - - 145,312 -

Amortization of intangible assets (29,000) - - - 29,000 -

Purchase of capital assets 29,295 - - - (29,295) -

Inter-fund transfer (note 12 and 13) - - 335,999 (250,000) (85,999) -

Balance, end of year 542,982 1,500,000 336,480 - 3,589,241 5,968,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended December 31

Invested in
capital and
intangible

assets

Internally
restricted for

complaints
and discipline

Internally
restricted for

national
initiatives

Internally
restricted for

massage
therapy

research Unrestricted
2020
Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year 881,778 1,500,000 821,447 250,000 2,815,230 6,268,455

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses
over revenues) for year - - (336,306) - 201,518 (134,788)

Amortization of capital assets (169,792) - - - 169,792 -

Amortization of intangible assets (55,237) - - - 55,237 -

Purchase of capital assets 31,250 - - - (31,250) -

Inter-fund transfer (note 12) - - (155,141) - 155,141 -

Balance, end of year 687,999 1,500,000 330,000 250,000 3,365,668 6,133,667

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Excess of expenses over revenues for year (164,964) (134,788)
Adjustments to determine net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities
Amortization of capital assets 145,312 169,792
Amortization of intangible assets 29,000 55,237
Amortization of bond discounts and premiums 15,072 10,032
Interest capitalized on short-term investments (5,442) (4,097)
Interest received on short-term investments capitalized in prior

years 4,097 4,489
Interest capitalized on investments (77,631) (82,370)
Interest received on investments capitalized in prior years 24,505 20,137
Amortization of deferred lease incentives (13,395) (13,560)

(43,446) 24,872
Change in non-cash working capital items

Increase in prepaid expenses (55,031) (161,109)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (413,634) 418,886
Increase (decrease) in deferred registration fees 4,801,769 (4,596,212)

4,289,658 (4,313,563)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of short-term investments (2,300,501) (3,081,619)
Purchase of investments (1,599,988) (1,923,702)
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 3,009,310 2,514,627
Proceeds from sale of investments 773,372 2,254,998
Purchase of capital assets (29,295) (31,250)

(147,102) (266,946)

Net change in cash 4,142,556 (4,580,509)

Cash, beginning of year 7,261,399 11,841,908

Cash, end of year 11,403,955 7,261,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2021

Nature and description of the organization

The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (the "College") was incorporated as a non-share capital
corporation under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 ("RHPA"). As the regulator and governing
body of the massage therapy profession in Ontario, the major function of the College is to administer the
Massage Therapy Act, 1991 in the public interest.  

The College is a not-for-profit organization, as described in Section 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act, and
therefore is not subject to income taxes. 

1. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies:

(a) Revenue recognition

Registration fees

Registration fees are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year to which they relate. The
registration year of the College coincides with that of the fiscal year of the College, being
January 1 to December 31. Registration fees received in advance of the fiscal year to which
they relate are recorded as deferred registration fees.

Examination fees

Examination fees are recognized as revenue when the examinations are held.

Investment income

Investment income comprises interest from cash, short-term investments and investments
and realized gains and losses on the sale of investments.

Revenue is recognized on an accrual basis. Interest on investments is recognized over the
terms of the investments using the effective interest method.

(b) Short-term investments

Short-term investments consist of banker's acceptances with maturity dates ranging from 91
days to twelve months from date of acquisition.

(c) Investments

Investments consist of Canadian fixed income investments with maturity dates greater than
twelve months from date of acquisition. Investments that mature within twelve months from
the year-end date are classified as current.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Capital assets

The costs of capital assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as a
capital asset, otherwise, costs are expensed as incurred. The cost of a capital asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its
intended use.

Capital assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, using
methods and rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives. The methods and annual amortization rates are as follows:

Computer equipment 20% straight-line
Office equipment 20% declining balance

Amortization of leasehold improvements is recorded on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease.

A capital asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is
identified, the amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the
capital asset to its fair value. Any impairment of the capital asset is recognized in income in
the year in which the impairment occurs.

An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the capital asset subsequently
increases.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Intangible assets

The costs of intangible assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset, with the exception of expenditures on internally generated intangible assets
during the development phase, which are expensed as incurred. The cost of a separately
acquired intangible asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of
preparing the asset for its intended use.

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a
straight-line basis at rates designed to amortize the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives. The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Computer software 50%
Computer software - database 20%

An intangible asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is
identified, the amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the
intangible asset to its fair value. Any impairment of the intangible asset is recognized in
income in the year in which the impairment occurs.

An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the intangible asset subsequently
increases.

(f) Deferred lease incentives

Lease incentives include reduced rent benefits and tenant inducements received in cash.

Lease incentives received in connection with original leases are amortized to income on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the original leases. Lease incentives received in
connection with re-negotiated leases are amortized to income on a straight-line basis over
the period from the expiration date of the respective original lease to the expiration date of
the re-negotiated lease.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments

Measurement of financial assets and liabilities

The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
adjusted by the amount of transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument.

The College subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortized cost.

Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization of
any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction
for impairment.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, short-term investments and
investments.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.

Impairment

At the end of each year, the College assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired.  Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the College, including but
not limited to the following events: significant financial difficulty of the issuer; a breach of
contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; and bankruptcy
or other financial reorganization proceedings.

When there is an indication of impairment, the College determines whether a significant
adverse change has occurred during the year in the expected timing or amount of future
cash flows from the financial asset.

When the College identifies a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount
of future cash flows from a financial asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the financial
asset to the greater of the following:

- the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the financial
asset discounted using a current market rate of interest appropriate to the financial
asset; and

- the amount that could be realized by selling the financial asset at the statement of
financial position date.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)  Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment  (continued)

Any impairment of the financial asset is recognized in income in the year in which the
impairment occurs.

When the extent of impairment of a previously written-down financial asset decreases and
the decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent of the improvement, but not
in excess of the impairment loss. The amount of the reversal is recognized in income in the
year the reversal occurs.

(h) Management estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current
year. Actual results may differ from these estimates, the impact of which would be recorded
in future years.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in
any future years affected.  

2. Financial instrument risk management

The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the College's risk exposure and concentrations.

The financial instruments of the College and the nature of the risks to which those instruments
may be subject, are as follows:

Risks

Market risk

Financial instrument Credit Liquidity Currency Interest rate Other price

Cash X X
Short-term investments X X
Investments X X
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities X

12



COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

2. Financial instrument risk management (continued)

Credit risk

The College is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that parties may default on their
financial obligations, or if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same party,
or if there is a concentration of financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics
that could be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions, such that the College could
incur a financial loss.

The maximum exposure of the College to credit risk is as follows:

2021 2020
$ $

Cash 11,403,955 7,261,399
Short-term investments 426,420 1,133,884
Investments 7,666,213 6,801,543

19,496,588 15,196,826

The College reduces its exposure to the credit risk of cash and short-term investments by
maintaining balances with a Canadian financial institution.

The College manages its exposure to the credit risk of investments through an investment policy
which restricts the types of eligible investments.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its
obligations as they come due.

The liquidity of the College is monitored by management to ensure sufficient cash is available to
meet liabilities as they come due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The College is not exposed to currency risk.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

2. Financial instrument risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The College manages the interest rate risk exposure of its Canadian fixed income investments by
using a laddered portfolio with varying terms to maturity. The laddered structure of maturities
helps to enhance the average portfolio yield while reducing the sensitivity of the portfolio to the
impact of interest rate fluctuations.

Other price risk

Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than
those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar instruments
traded in the market.

The College is not exposed to other price risk.

Changes in risk

There have been no significant changes in the risk profile of the financial instruments of the
College from that of the prior year.

3. Short-term investments

Banker's acceptances with effective interest rate of 0.17% (2020 - ranging from 0.20% to 0.84%)
and maturity date in January 2022 (2020 -  ranging from February 2021 to June 2021).

4. Investments

2021 2020
$ $

Current 1,209,607 452,639

Long-term 6,456,606 6,348,904

7,666,213 6,801,543

Canadian fixed income Investments with effective interest rates ranging from 0.80% to 4.12%
(2020 -  2.23% to 4.82%), and maturity dates ranging from March 2022 to June 2031 (2020 - July
2021 to October 2030).

14



COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

5. Capital assets

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2021
Net

$ $ $

Computer equipment 879,325 729,857 149,468
Office equipment 579,802 424,807 154,995
Leasehold improvements 680,001 446,242 233,759

2,139,128 1,600,906 538,222

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2020
Net

$ $ $

Computer equipment 850,030 671,272 178,758
Office equipment 579,802 386,058 193,744
Equipment 31,793 31,793 -
Leasehold improvements 680,001 398,264 281,737

2,141,626 1,487,387 654,239

During the year, equipment with a net book value of nil (cost of $31,793 and accumulated
amortization of $31,793) was disposed for no proceeds.

6. Intangible assets

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2021
Net

$ $ $

Computer software 624,184 624,184 -
Computer software - database 578,058 573,298 4,760

1,202,242 1,197,482 4,760

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2020
Net

$ $ $

Computer software 624,184 599,382 24,802
Computer software - database 578,058 569,100 8,958

1,202,242 1,168,482 33,760
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2021 2020
$ $

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 719,064 1,091,301
Accrued liabilities - complaints and discipline 2,510,138 2,551,535

3,229,202 3,642,836

8. Deferred lease incentives

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2021
Net

$ $ $

Tenant inducements 110,699 90,217 20,482
Reduced rent benefits 127,021 80,527 46,494

237,720 170,744 66,976

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2020
Net

$ $ $

Tenant inducements 110,699 86,278 24,421
Reduced rent benefits 127,021 71,071 55,950

237,720 157,349 80,371

During the year, amortization of lease incentives in the amount of $13,395 (2020 - $13,560) was
credited to rent and operating costs.

9. Investment income

2021 2020
$ $

Interest from cash 13,191 52,395
Interest from short-term investments 1,345 9,773
Interest from investments 186,511 191,702
Investment fees (36,974) (36,414)

164,073 217,456
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

10. Complaints and discipline

2021 2020
$ $

Complaints and discipline 2,955,715 3,235,074
Cost recoveries (59,216) (42,036)

2,896,499 3,193,038

11. Net assets internally restricted for complaints and discipline

The College makes best efforts to anticipate the costs associated with complaints and discipline
matters based on past experience and current caseload.  However, in the event that the College
incurs costs beyond the normal scope of such matters, the Council of the College has internally
restricted net assets to fund expenditures related to these matters.

The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.

12. Net assets internally restricted for national initiatives

The Council of the College has internally restricted net assets to support anticipated national
initiatives.

During the current year, a contribution in the amount of $329,519 (2020 - $336,306) was made to
Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation ("CMTCA"). The funds will be used by
CMTCA to develop and deliver an accreditation process to provide a mechanism for quality
assurance and continuous improvement of entry-level massage therapy education programs.

Effective January 1, 2022, the College entered into a funding agreement with CMTCA to provide
annual fees, in the amount of $336,480, to CMTCA until December 31, 2022.

In the current year, subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee, a transfer of $335,999 was approved from unrestricted net assets to net
assets internally restricted for national initiatives.

In the current year, subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee, a transfer of $155,141 was approved from net assets internally restricted
for national initiatives to unrestricted net assets.

The internally restricted balance is for the commitment the College has made over the next fiscal
year pursuant to the funding agreement with CMTCA.

The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021

13. Net assets internally restricted for massage therapy research

The Council of the College had previously internally restricted net assets to support the Massage
Therapy Research Fund ("MTRF") which awarded funding for studies relating to the College
mandate of public protection including massage therapy effectiveness, efficacy, and safety,
access to and delivery of massage therapy services, professionalization of massage therapy,
massage therapy competencies and competency assessment and the evaluation of massage
therapy practices.

In the current year, subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee, the net assets internally restricted for massage therapy research were
transferred to unrestricted net assets due to a decision to wind up the fund.

14. Commitments

The College is committed to lease its office premises until November 30, 2026. The future annual
lease payments, including an estimate of premises common area expenses, are as follows:

$

2022 617,826
2023 640,163
2024 647,522
2025 670,151
2026 621,323

3,196,985

The College is committed to pay $132,074 annually, for the use of cloud-based database
services, pursuant to an agreement expiring January 31, 2030.

15. Impact of COVID-19

The global pandemic of the virus known as COVID-19 has led the Canadian Federal government,
as well as provincial and local governments, to impose measures, such as restricting foreign
travel, mandating self-isolations and physical distancing and closing non-essential businesses.
Because of the high level of uncertainty related to the outcome of this pandemic, it is difficult to
estimate the future financial effect, if any, on the College.
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Policy # Policy Name Date Approved 

F18 Surplus Retention 

Objective 
The purpose of the surplus retention policy is to enable the College to withstand negative 
unexpected financial events and maintain financial stability.  

Policy 

• Unrestricted Net Assets:
o Unless it has been identified through financial planning that more than 6 months

of annual expenses is required in unrestricted net assets as a result of upcoming
business requirements, unrestricted net assets should not exceed approximately
6 months of operating expenses and

o Not be below 3 months of operating expenses.

• Internally Restricted Net Assets:
o Identification of appropriate use of internally restricted net assets

▪ The Registrar will identify the need for access to internally restricted net
assets and confirm that the use is consistent with the purpose of the
internal restrictions as described in this policy.

o Authority to use internal restrictions
▪ Authority for release of the internal restricted net assets is delegated to

Council.
o Reporting and monitoring

▪ The Registrar is responsible for ensuring that the internal restrictions are
maintained and used only for its intended purpose.

▪ The Registrar will maintain detailed records of the use of internally
restricted net assets.

o At the discretion of the Registrar, transfers between Unrestricted Net Assets
to/from Internally Restricted Net Assets can take place and must be approved by
Council.

o Internally Restricted Net Assets are to be limited to fixed income investments with
higher liquidity.

• The Registrar has the responsibility of ensuring compliance with this policy.  Exceptions
and changes to this policy may only be made with the prior approval of Council.

Attachment 2 



Agenda Item 4.2 
For Decision 

BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: April 29, 2022 

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO

Re: Appointment of the Auditor for 2022 

Background: 

In accordance with By-Law No. 1 “Conduct of the Business and Administration of the Affairs of 
the College”:  

16. (A) The Council shall annually appoint an auditor to audit the accounts of the
College. 

In accordance with the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference, the Committee annually 
reviews its relationship with the external auditor including its performance, independence and 
objectivity and is recommending that Council appoint Hilborn LLP to conduct the 2022 
financial audit. 

Draft Motion: 

THAT Council appoint Hilborn LLP as CMTO’s auditor for 2022. 



Council Year-End 
Self- Evaluation

2021 
A. Governance

B. Oversight
and Decision

Making

D. Council
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E. Council
Performance

F. Continuous
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Priorities for

the Year Ahead

C. Financial
Performance & 

Risk

Six areas to report on …
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• Full participation from Council members.

• Overall, a positive report – demonstrating good alignment within Council with respect to effectiveness
last year – a sense that Council does a good job as Governors, and also that there are opportunities for
improvement.

• Thoughtful and constructive input with respect to Continuous Improvement priorities for 2022:

o Some continuing priorities that carry over from last year related to Financial Oversight as well as
DEI.

o A number of other suggestions for improvements that demonstrate thoughtfulness and awareness
of different aspects of Good Governance.

Overview 



A. Governance

3



1. Council members have a
good understanding of CMTO's
mission, mandate, and strategic plan

4

2. Council members have a good understanding of
the work of the College, including the roles,
responsibilities, and key activities of the various
departments

3. Members are clear on their roles and
responsibilities as Governors and agree on the
distinction between Council and Management
responsibilities and decisions.

• No cross-cutting concerns or issues.
• Consensus in the comments that these

elements are reviewed regularly with
staff and that most members are clear.

• A sense that this will get even better as
the College develops a new strategic 
plan.

• No major concerns expressed.
• Some members feel they have sufficient

information – the briefings provided by
Committee staff help in that regard.

• Others feel that more information would
help them be more effective  – but within
limits and not to the extent that Council
would be tempted to become more
directly involved in administration or more
tactical in their focus.

• A number of members commented that there
my not be a consistent understanding of this
across all Council members.

• It was noted that sometimes questions or
comments are made that are tactical or
administrative, and not an appropriate
governance level for Council.

• A number of Council members noted that when
this happens, the President manages the
situation effectively.

4.2 3.9 4.0
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B. Oversight and
Decision Making



4. Council regularly monitors and
evaluates progress towards strategic
and operational goals

6

5. Council routinely monitors and discusses
organizational and program performance, which in
turn informs their evaluation of the CEO

6. Council makes decisions that are appropriate
to its Governance role and that provide effective
direction and guidance to Management

• It was noted that the information is
provided at each Council meeting and
that the dashboard is a useful tool.

• A number of Council members
suggested its doesn’t always feel like
they are monitoring strategic goals but
are sometimes more focused on
activities and statistics.

• Council members noted the regular reporting
from the CEO at each Council meeting assists
in this area.

• It was also noted that the information as
reported has tended to focus more on
activities, and less on performance and
execution of strategy.

• Council members generally felt that their decisions
were appropriate to their role as Governors,
notwithstanding that sometimes Council member
questions or comments can be more tactical or
administratively focused.

• At the same time, there is an opportunity through
ongoing governance training, to ensure there is a
consistent understanding.

• It was also noted that it’s not clear how Council
members can assess whether their direction and
guidance to management are actually “effective”,
or seen as such by management.

4.0 4.1 4.4
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C. Financial
Performance & Risk



7. Council, including as represented by Executive
Committee, is actively involved in preparing, reviewing,
and approving the financial plan/budget

8

8. Council monitors financial performance regularly and
well-informed staff are able to explain variances and
management strategies, with no surprises

• There was a clear sense that Council is involved but at the
review and approval stage.

• It was also noted that Council members may not always have
the knowledge and experience to analyze and assess
strategic financial information, options, and implications.

• It was noted that Council regularly receives and has an opportunity to
discuss financial information and that staff do a very good job to
answer questions and accept feedback.

• It was noted that information and implications as presented were not
always clear and that there is an opportunity to strengthen multi-year
planning, budgeting and forecasting in order to reduce unforeseen
situations.

3.9 4.1



9. Council ensures timely, independent auditing of
finances. Audit results are discussed with the
auditor where appropriate

9

10. Council is briefed on Management's annual monitoring of
the Management and Organizational Risk Plan and any actions
taken by Management with respect to the Plan

• Members commented positively on the opportunity to
engage directly with the Auditor and also that the
information provided by the Auditor is thorough.

• Members noted that this briefing occurred.
• Many Council members expressed satisfaction with the

information provided, while some suggested that the briefing or
perhaps the exercise as a whole should be revisited to ensure it
is meaningful, including incorporating financial risk.

4.5 4.0



D. Council
Leadership

10



11. A clear, well-understood and accepted process
is in place to identify and develop Council leaders
through rotation of Committee assignments and
other opportunities to lead

11

12. Executive Committee appears to
have an effective working relationship
with the CEO

13. Executive Committee has the
necessary skills, enthusiasm, and
energy to provide leadership to Council

• In general, there was a sense that the process for
identifying leadership was clear, that there are many
leadership opportunities, and that individuals who
express interest always receive encouragement.

• Some members suggested that perhaps term limits should
be considered as a means of ensuring renewal and
promoting participation.

• It was also suggested that while the process for electing
leaders is clear, relying on elections does not allow for
more coherent development of talent and succession
planning.

• Council members noted that this is an
important part of Executive Committee’s role.

• There appears to be a consensus that the
relationship with the previous CEO met this
test and that this would continue to be priority
with the new CEO.

• Executive Committee was seen by most
Council members to have been an
experienced and effective group this year.

• It was suggested that there more regular
turnover would potentially create
opportunities for others to lead and for more
diverse voices to be heard.

3.6 4.4 4.1



E. Council
Performance

12



14. Council meeting agendas and packages are clear about
the key issues and areas for Council consideration

13

15. Council receives quality background information and
material sufficiently in advance to allow for effective
preparation

• Overall, the feedback about agendas and meeting
packages was positive – especially with respect to the
improved quality of the briefing notes.

• Council members felt that for the most part, the materials were
received with sufficient time to prepare, and commented very
positively on the performance of the Executive Assistant in this
regard.

• There were also positive comments about the improved quality and
focus of briefing notes, and that Council was starting to see more
streamlined packages, although some sense that there could be
more focus in the briefing notes on the problem that being solved
and how the effectiveness of changes would be measured.

4.5 4.1



16. Meetings start and end on time, with an emphasis on
substantive discussion of significant matters by Council.

14

17. All necessary skills to conduct Council
business are represented on Council.

• Overall, comments were positive in this area.
• A number of members noted the substantive nature of Council’s

discussions and that meetings were efficiently run.
• Some suggested that there is room to improve by limiting

repetitive comments and questions, and that sometimes,
Council runs out of time and discussions can feel rushed as a
result.

• Some members felt that Council was appropriately skilled
and that there was adequate coverage of the necessary
skills.

• Others suggested there were deficits in some areas, such
as governance expertise and financial expertise.

• Where Council members noted skills deficits, there was
also an understanding that getting the right mix of skills on
Council is not within the College’s control, given the
current election and appointment processes.

• Similar comments were made about the need for more
diversity and the College’s lack of control in this area.

4.0 4.1



18. Council members proactively ask questions, raise
issues, and engage constructively in discussion and debate

15

19. Council meetings are productive, enjoyable, and
include efforts to connect Council members as a group,
and with senior staff

• In general, there was a sense that Council does reasonably well
in this area.

• There was appreciation of the fact that some Council members
tend to speak more often while others will not speak up if their
comment was addressed by someone else or if their question
had already been answered.

• For some members, the virtual format limits engagement,
including that its not uniformly effectively for all Council
members.

• A number of Council members commented that the overall
tone of Council meetings was collegial, respectful, and
professional.

• Members noted that the meeting experience was as
positive as possible, although necessarily less than ideal
given the continuing impact of COVID.

4.0 4.1



F. Governance
Continuous

Improvement 
Priorities for the Year 

Ahead

16
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Financial Oversight
• The CEO and senior management team are working to improve the information provided to Council about

planning, budgeting, forecasting and projects.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
• Council confirmed DEI is a key priority for 2022.  Management is developing an initial DEI strategy for review by

Council this spring, that will then inform the strategic plan renewal process to begin later this year.

Strategic Planning
• Council and the CEO agreed that the strategic plan renewal process should include an emphasis on

organizational and program performance, through an increased focus on the problems being addressed through
proposed policies and programs, expected results, and measurement of results, including, where possible,
building those results and measurements into the CEO performance evaluation process.

Evening Events
• Council approved the introduction of some evening Council events – for example, training – as a means to

accommodate member schedules and ensure that being on Council is accessible and manageable for a diverse
range of members.

Strategic Governance Focus 
• Council expressed its support for the continuing efforts of Management to evolve Council and Committee

meeting agendas and packages to ensure a strategic focus and improve meeting efficiency.

Learning and Development
• The CEO briefed Council on her intention to develop an annual Council learning and development program that

includes financial oversight and strategic governance components.

In discussion with the CEO, 
Council confirmed a 
number of Governance 
continuous improvement 
priorities for 2022



Council Meeting Evaluation 

February 8, 2022
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Comments and Suggestions 

Time was used effectively, discussions 
were focused, and Council avoided getting 
into administrative/management details.

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 8, 2022

Disagreements were handled openly, 
honestly, and directly. There was a positive 
climate of trust and respect.

The materials were relevant , appropriate 
to Council's role, and sufficient to assist me 
in forming an opinion on matters before 
Council.

The streamlined package was good to see and very effective.

The detailed breakdown of financial information was useful.

The meeting package was received with 
sufficient time to allow me to prepare.

4.8

4.5

4.4

4.4

2

A well-planned meeting – time was used well. 

We stayed on track, although the elections process was long 

with so many people participating.  

The elections process can result in strains – but each year, we 

are able to move on, recognizing that the process will change 

significantly with the proposed Governance changes. 



Council Meeting Evaluation: February 8, 2022

Would be useful to consistently see next steps, 

timelines, and outcomes 

Where appropriate, next steps and action 
items were clearly identified.

Members appeared prepared for the 
meeting, and I was satisfied with the 
opportunities we had to participate in and 
contribute to the discussion and debate.

The President was effective in allowing all sides 
to be heard while bringing matters to decision.

Comments and Suggestions 

A job well done, as always.

4.4

4.6

4.6

3

Everyone was well-prepared.



Council Meeting Evaluation: February 8, 2022

A great meeting.

Very good to see so many people coming forward for 

leadership roles.

There is still some confusion related to the proposed 

Governance reforms. 

Anything else about the 

meeting you would like to 

comment on or share?

Comments and Suggestions 

4
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Council Meeting Minutes 

Date: February 8, 2022 

Location: Videoconference – Microsoft (MS) TEAMS 

Present: K. Westfall-Connor, RMT, President
S. Adderley, RMT
S. Biber, RMT
A. Cantalini, RMT
L. Hargreaves, RMT
M. Kesler, Public Member
C. Mandalentsis, RMT
J. Mathers, Public Member
D. Oehring, RMT
J. Patel, Public Member
I. Vining, RMT
R. Van Vliet
C. Watt, Public Member
L. White, Public Member

Regrets: S. Mall, Public Member 

Administration:       M. Boon,  Registrar|CEO 
A. Brennand, Director, Policy and Communications
V. Browne, Director, Registration Services
N. Garnette, Director, Professional Conduct
V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice
C. Ralph-Edwards, Controller*
L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant

Recorder: L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant

*attended a portion of the meeting only

Agenda Item 6.1
Consent Agenda

For Approval
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1. Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 AM. 

K. Westfall-Connor, President, provided the land
acknowledgement as a demonstration of recognition and
respect for Indigenous peoples.

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 

No conflicts of interest were declared. 

3. Approval of the Agenda of February 8, 2022 

2022 February 8 – MOTION 1: L. White/J. Mathers 

THAT the Agenda of February 8, 2022, be adopted as 
presented. 

CARRIED 

4. Council Meeting Evaluation of November 29, 2021 

There were no issues raised respecting the November 29, 2021 
Council meeting.  

Staff will continue to work with Council in providing the 
appropriate level of information to inform decision-making at 
the governance level.  

5. Election of the 2022 Executive Committee 

K. Westfall-Connor turned over the Chairing of this portion of
the meeting to the Registrar & CEO, M. Boon.

M. Boon advised Council that “Survey Monkey” will be used to
conduct the 2022 elections.

Nominations and Election of President 

M. Boon advised Council that a nomination had been received
from K. Westfall-Connor and that her Statement of Intent was
previously circulated to Council.

M. Boon called for nominations from the floor for the position  of
President. No additional nominations were received.
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2022 February 8 – MOTION 2: L. Hargreaves/S. Biber 

THAT the nominations for the position of President be 
closed. 

CARRIED 

K. Westfall-Connor was acclaimed President.

Nominations and Election of Vice President 

M. Boon advised Council that nominations had been received
and Statements of Intent were previously circulated to Council
for the following members:

M. Kesler, Public Member
R. Van Vliet, RMT
L. White, Public Member

M. Boon called for nominations from the floor for the position
of Vice President. No additional nominations were received.

2022 February 8 – MOTION 3: A. Cantalini/S. Adderley 

THAT the nominations for the position of Vice President 
be closed. 

CARRIED 

The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address 
Council. 

Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, M. Kesler, with the 
majority of votes received,  was declared Vice President.  

Nominations and Election of First Executive Officer 

M. Boon reminded members that in accordance with the by- 
laws, there must be at least two public members on the
Executive Committee.

M. Boon advised Council that nominations had been received
and Statements of Intent were previously circulated to Council
for the following members:

L. Hargreaves, RMT
D. Oehring, RMT
R. Van Vliet, RMT
C. Watt, Public Member
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M. Boon called for nominations from the floor for the position
of First Executive Officer. The following nominations were
made:

Nominee Moved   Seconded 
L. White J. Mathers I. Vining
J. Mathers K. Westfall-Connor  S. Biber

2022 February 8 – MOTION 4: S. Biber/K. Westfall-Connor 

THAT the nominations for the position of First Executive 
Officer be closed. 

CARRIED 

The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address 
Council. 

Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, a tie vote was 
declared amongst two of the candidates with the majority of 
votes received.  

C. Watt and J. Mathers were provided with a further
opportunity to address Council.

Following Council’s second vote by a secret ballot, a tie vote 
was declared. M. Boon resolved the deadlock by lot and        
C. Watt was declared first Executive Officer.

Nominations and Election for the Position of Second Executive 
Officer 

M. Boon called for nominations from the floor for the position
of Second Executive Officer. No additional nominations were
received.

The nominees were provided with an additional opportunity to 
address Council. 

Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, J. Mathers, Public 
Member, with the majority of votes received, was declared 
second Executive Officer. 

The ballots from the 2022 Executive Committee election were 
destroyed. 

M. Boon turned the meeting over to the newly elected
President, K. Westfall-Connor, to chair the remainder of the
meeting.
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6. Consent Agenda 

A question was raised regarding the 2021 – Q4 Discipline 
Committee Report and the historical busy 4th quarter periods. 
Staff will review year-over-year 4th quarter results and update 
Council at the next meeting.  

2022 February 8 - MOTION 5: J. Mathers/C. Watt 

THAT the consent agenda be approved as presented. 

CARRIED 

Action: Review historical 4th quarter periods and provide Council 
with an update. 

  Staff 

7. Quarterly Reporting 

7.1 2021 – Q4 Financial Report – Preliminary Year End 

C. Ralph-Edwards, Controller, presented the 2021 – Q4 Financial
and Preliminary Year End Report to Council. He spoke to those
items that exceeded  the established variance thresholds of
greater than $50,000 and  10%. No questions were raised
regarding the 2021 – Q4 Preliminary Year End Report. The
audited financial statements will be presented to Council at the
May meeting.

2022 February 8 - MOTION 6: R. Van Vliet/S. Biber 

THAT Council approve the unaudited 2021 – Q4 
Preliminary Year-End Financial Report as presented. 

CARRIED 

7.2 2021 – Q4 Workplan Report 

M. Boon provided Council with the status of  the projects in the
2021– Q4 Workplan Report. No questions were raised.

2022 February 8 – MOTION 7: S. Adderley/S. Biber 

THAT Council accept the 2021 – Q4 Workplan Report 
as presented. 

CARRIED 
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7.3 2021 – Q4 Key Performance Indicators Report (KPIs) 

A. Brennand, Director, Policy & Communications, presented the
2021 – Q4 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Report to Council.

As requested by Council in November 2021, directional arrows 
were added to the report where applicable to flag performance 
over time. 

Staff will continue to evaluate the report and give some 
thought to additional ways data can be presented to Council. 

M. Boon advised Council that the STRiVE completion rate is
currently 98.7%.

2022 February 8 – MOTION 8: S. Biber/S. Adderley 

THAT Council accept the 2021 – Q4 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) Report as presented. 

CARRIED 

7.4 2021 – Q4 Quality Assurance Committee Report 

D. Oehring, Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee
presented the 2021 – Q4 Committee Report  to Council.

2022 February 8 – MOTION 9: L. Hargreaves/J. Mathers 

THAT Council approve the 2021 -Q4 Quality Assurance 
Committee Report as presented.  

CARRIED 

8. Items for Decision 

8.1 Amendment to Policy “Exam Candidates Returning after 
Three Previous Failures” 

R. Van Vliet, Committee Member, advised Council that the
Registration Committee reviewed this policy and is
recommending an update to clarify the requirement for
candidates who have failed a Certification Examination three
times. The proposed amendments also reference and link to the
College’s Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation
and Education Program Equivalence (for programs outside
Ontario) Policy.
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2022 February 8 – MOTION 10:  S. Biber/A. Cantalini 

THAT Council approve the updated Examination 
Candidates Returning after Three Previous Failures 
policy as shown in Appendix B.  

CARRIED 

8.2 Amendment to By-Law No. “11 Code of Ethics – Schedule 1” 

Council reviewed the proposed changes to By-Law No. 11 “Code 
of Ethics” Schedule 1 that reflect the new Standards of Practice 
as presented by B. Sumpton, Research Manager, Professional 
Practice.  

2022 February 8 – MOTION 11:  S. Biber/J. Patel 

THAT Council approve the revisions to By-Law No. 11, 
Schedule 1 (Code of Ethics).  

CARRIED 

9. Items for Information 

9.1 2021 – Q4 Organizational Risk Register 

M. Boon presented the 2021 – Q4 Organizational Risk Register to 
Council. She advised Council that the Executive Committee has
reviewed the Risk Register and has identified the top eight risks.
Council agreed the list of risks is complete, including those
identified as the highest risk and supported action, if required,
given the likelihood of potential impact.

10. New Business 

There was no new business. 
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11. Adjournment 

2022 February 8 – MOTION 12: S. Adderley/S. Biber 

THAT the February 8, 2022 Council meeting be 
adjourned. 

CARRIED 

The meeting was adjourned at 11:35 AM. 

____________________ __________________ 
K. Westfall-Connor, RMT M. Boon
President Registrar & CEO
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ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES OF MEETING 

COUNCIL MEETING OF FEBRUARY 8, 2022 

Agenda 
Item 

Description Status 

6.0 2021 – Q4 Discipline Committee Report 

Action: Review historical 4th quarter periods and provide Council 
with an update. 

Completed 
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To: Council 

Date: April 29, 2022  

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO 

Re: 2022 – Q1 Registrar’s Report 

This report covers activities related to the CEO performance criteria that have not already 
been reported through the Quarterly Workplan, Financial and Committee Reports. 

1. Strategic Vision and Direction Setting
• RFP Development re: Strategic Planning
• CPMF Report submitted to the Ministry of Health

2. Stakeholder Engagement
• Meetings with HPRO

o Board and Working Groups (CPMF, Communications, Anti-BIPOC Racism)
• RMTAO (Presidents’ Meeting)
• Massage Addict
• CMTBC and FOMTRAC
• Ministry of Health (Governance Reform, Regulations, MEOC and Public

Appointments)

3. Development and Achievement of Goals

In addition to administering the legislation, the team continued to move the Annual Workplan 
projects forward as noted in the Quarterly Workplan Report. Other notable operational 
activities undertaken in the quarter are as follows: 

Activities Outcomes 

STRiVE 99.9% completion rate (Mar 31, 2022) 
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4. Financial/Risk Management
• Multi-Year Planning – 2023 Fee Proposal
• Meetings with auditor, real estate partner and investment advisor

5. People Management
• Recruitments (6) including Director, Corporate Services
• All Staff Meetings
• Senior Team Coaching
• Return to Office – March 22, 2022
• CMTO Group Retirement Savings Plan Launch

2021 ANNUAL HR STATS 

2021 Year-End Totals (on December 31, 2021) 
New Hires: 12 

Contract to Permanent Conversions: 1 
Departures: 11 

2021 Attrition Rate:  23.6% 

70% of CMTO employees were hired in 2019-2021 
30% of CMTO employees were hired in 2018 or earlier 

6. Governance
• Orientation (new Council/non-Council Members)
• Committees Annual Orientation
• OIC Received – M. Kesler Reappointed for an Additional 3 Years
• Planning for Non-Council Public Member recruitment and selection
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT 
2022 – Q1 and 2022 – Q2 

Committee Members:  
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, President   
Marlene Kesler, Public Member, Vice President (as of February 8, 2022)  
Lloyd White, Public Member, Vice President (until February 7, 2022) 
Anna Cantalini, RMT, Executive Officer (until February 7, 2022) 
Jay Mathers, Public Member, Executive Officer (as of February 8, 2022)  
Carolyn Watt, Public Member, Executive Officer 

 

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 

1. MEETING DATES

The Executive Committee held the following meetings since the February 8, 2022 Council 
meeting on: 

February 16, 2022 (videoconference) 
April 21, 2022 (videoconference) 

The Executive Committee made the following Decisions/Recommendations: 

Committee Mandate: 

The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the Council, the 
Committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning, 
governance and supervisory responsibilities. The Committee monitors the  
administration of the College and relies on the Registrar and other staff to implement 
its decisions. 
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February 16, 2022 

1. 2022 Committee Composition

The Executive Committee approved the 2022 Committee composition and circulated it to 
Council for ratification by email. 

2. 2022 Executive Committee Meeting Schedule

The Executive Committee approved the Committee’s 2022 Meeting Schedule. 

3. Appointment of Mentor

The Executive Committee appointed D. Oehring as a mentor for new Council member 
C. Mandalentsis.

4. Other Business

The Committee continued discussions on Governance and Modernization Reforms. 

April 21, 2022 

1. Review of Council Agenda Items

As part of its regular business, the Committee approved the agendas for the May 9-10 and 
June 13, 2022 Council meetings and Education Day along with the quarterly Financial, 
Registrar’s,  Workplan and Organizational Risk Register reports. 

2. Draft Audited Financial Statements

The Executive Committee met with the Auditor to review the draft audited 2021 Financial 
Statements and discussed the results of the audit in preparation for presentation  
to Council on May 9, 2022. 

The Committee agreed to Hilborn’s recommendation to undertake a review of internal controls 
and financial policies.  
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3. Recommendation of Auditor for 2022

The Executive Committee reviewed the performance of Hilborn, in the past year and agreed to 
recommend re-appointing Hilborn as the auditor for 2022.  

4. Investment Portfolio Review and Update

CMTO’s, Portfolio Manager, Andrew Stiff of Raymond James, provided the Executive 
Committee with an overview of the Investment Policy including a briefing on the status of the 
College’s investment portfolio.  

5. Annual Fee Renewal

The Executive Committee reviewed the significant pressures on CMTO finances, the potential 
impact, approach, assumptions and considerations including cost reduction proposals and 
recommendations to various fee increases as prepared by management to inform the review of 
fees for the coming year, which is scheduled at the May 9, 2022 Council meeting. 

6. Annual Orientation and Review of the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference

As part of the orientation, the members of the Executive Committee reviewed their Terms of 
Reference, which provided them with an overview of their accountabilities,  including financial 
and risk monitoring, governance, Registrar/CEO performance management, strategy and issue 
management.  

7. Practice Assessments for Registrants who did not complete STRiVE in 2021

At the request of the Quality Assurance Committee, and pursuant to its authority under section 
34(2)(b) of Ontario Regulation 544/94, the Executive Committee required 8 registrants, who 
had not completed all elements of the STRiVE program, to participate in a practice assessment 
and complete all outstanding STRiVE requirements. 

8. Ad Hoc Committees: Strategic Planning and Diversity, Equity & Inclusion

The Executive Committee reviewed the approach to the next Strategic Plan, including key 
project deliverables, timelines and options for oversight of the process. The Committee will 
recommend that Council create an Ad Hoc  Strategic Planning Committee to oversee the 
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process and work with the consultant to review and recommend a draft strategic plan for 
consideration and approval by Council in November.  

Council has indicated that it would like to prioritize diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI). The 
Executive Committee will recommend to Council at the May meeting, establishment of a DEI Ad 
Hoc Committee that will be tasked to develop what a strategic initiative might include and 1-2 
potential initiatives that can be measured that will be presented to the Strategic Planning Ad 
Hoc Committee in advance of the Strategic Planning Day in September. 

9. Registrar an CEO’s Performance Appraisal

The Executive Committee discussed the process for this year related to the Registrar’s annual 
performance appraisal which includes an informal mid-year feedback discussion with Council to 
take place at the May Council meeting. 

10. Other Business

The Executive Committee reviewed proposed amendments to By-Law No. 9 “The Registrar”. 
The existing by-law indicates that the Deputy Registrar becomes acting Registrar when the 
Registrar is absent. Operational needs are currently being evaluated and it is not anticipated 
that a Deputy Registrar will be hired this year. The proposed amendments will enable the 
Registrar to appoint anyone as Deputy Registrar for any period of time and will also enable the 
Executive Committee and/or Council to appoint that person as Acting Registrar should the need 
arise.  

2. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION

1. 2022 Committee Composition (ratified by e-mail February 22, 2022)
2. 2021 Draft Audited Financial Statements
3. Appointment of Auditor for 2022
4. Annual Fee Renewal
5. Proposed Amendments to By-Law No. 9 “The Registrar”
6. Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee
7. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee
8. Registrar & CEO’s Performance Evaluation Interim Discussion
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Respectfully submitted by: 

Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT 
President  
College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
2022 – Q1 (January – March)  

Committee Members: 
Dawn Oehring, RMT, Chair (until February 7, 2022) 
Lloyd White, Public Member, Chair (as of February 8, 2022) 
Sandra Cina, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Rebecca Cleaveley, RMT, non-Council Member  
Tammy Contois, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT, non-Council Member  
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT  
Michael Hayes, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Marlene Kesler, Public Member  
Jianjiang Li, RMT, non-Council Member  
Christin Mandalentsis, RMT (as of February 8, 2022) 
Jay Mathers, Public Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member  
Dawn Ricica, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 

 

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 

Statement of Purpose: 

The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the development 
and implementation of a quality assurance program in accordance with regulations 
prescribed by the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and College Regulations. 
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1. MEETING DATES

The Quality Assurance Committee met twice during the first quarter on January 20 and      
March 16, 2022. Additionally, eight Quality Assurance Panel meetings were held on January 11, 
17, and 27, February 3 and 4, and March 3, 24, and 31, 2022 to accommodate the review of a 
number of ongoing assessment matters.  

2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

2.1 STRiVE – the Quality Assurance Program 

During the first quarter, the Professional Practice team continued to follow up with registrants 
who had not submitted STRiVE requirements for 2021, increasing the compliance rate to 99.9% 
by March 31, 2021.  

As a result of non-compliance with STRiVE 2021, a total of 8 registrants will be directed to 
undergo a practice assessment and complete outstanding STRiVE requirements.  

2.2 Assessments 

During the first quarter of 2022, 132 matters were considered by Quality Assurance Panels. 
Decisions were made to impose Terms, Conditions and Limitations on the Certificate of 
Registration for 5 registrants, issue 51 Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Programs 
(SCERPs), provide recommendations to 22 registrants, and take no further action on 40 matters. 

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

There were no items sent to Council for decision. 
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS COMMITTEE REPORT 
2022 - Q1 (January – March)  

Committee Members: Lisa Tucker, RMT, Chair (until February 7, 2022) 
Ravara Van Vliet, RMT, Chair (as of February 8, 2022 and Chair as of February 25, 2022) 
Sean Adderley, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Suja Biber, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Deny Brulotte, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Jonathan Chang, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Sandra Cina, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Tammy Contois, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Imelda Garce, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
David Janveau, RMT, non-Council Member  
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT, Professional Non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Cheryl Lewin, RMT, non-Council Member 
Elisabeth Mathers, RMT, non-Council Member 
Jay Mathers, Public Member  
Dawn Oehring, RMT (as of February 8, 2022) 
Alpa Patel, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Rossana Rebeccani, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Karalyn Van Aken, RMT, non-Council Member 
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Ian Vining, RMT (as of February 8, 2022) 
Carolyn Watt, Public Member 
Lloyd White, Public Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Eric Wu, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 

 Committee Mandate: 

The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) investigates complaints, 
inquiries, and reported concerns regarding registrants and determines a course of 
action in accordance with legislation, including referral to the Discipline Committee for 
allegations   of professional misconduct or incompetence. The Committee also has the 
authority to conduct inquiries for incapacity issues and can refer incapacity concerns 
to the Fitness to Practise Committee. 
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 

1. MEETING DATES

The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is divided into three panels to accommodate the 
number of ongoing matters, as well as avoid any potential conflicts of interest and accommodate the 
selection of Panel members (should the need arise for a discipline hearing).  

Collectively, the Panels met seven (7) times for videoconference meetings on January 12, 2022, 
January 21, 2022, January 31, 2022, February 2, 2022, March 9, 2022, March 16, 2022, and March 25, 
2022.  

2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

2.1 New Cases and Nature of Concerns* 

Complaints Nature of Concerns Registrar 
Report 

Investigations 

Nature of Concerns 

19 0 - Advertising 
0 - Billing and Fees 
4 - Communication 
1 - Competence/Patient Care 
1 - Harassment/Boundary Violations 
3 - Intent to Mislead including Fraud 
8 - Professional Conduct & Behaviour 
0 - Record Keeping 
0 - Sexual Abuse 
2 - Unauthorized Practice 
0 - Other 

10 0 - Advertising 
0 - Billing and Fees 
0 - Communication 
1 - Competence/Patient Care 
0 - Harassment/Boundary Violations 
2 - Intent to Mislead including Fraud 
0 - Professional Conduct & Behaviour 
1 - Record Keeping 
4 - Sexual Abuse 
1 - Unauthorized Practice 
1 - Other  

*The CMTO Quarterly Report has revised its definition of ‘New Case’ to be consistent with the College
Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF). As such, quarter over quarter results of ‘New Cases’ may not be
directly comparable.

2.2 Sources of Information for Complaints, Registrar Report Investigations, and Incapacity Matters 

Sources Total 
Public (e.g. clients, police, media) 17 
Other RMT 3 
Other health professionals 0 
Insurance companies 2 
Employers/Facility Operators 3 
Self-reports 1 
Quality Assurance Committee 2 
Other 5 
Total 33 
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2.3 Cases Completed by the ICRC and Outcomes 

2.4 Current Incapacity Cases and Outcomes 

New Cases Cases Closed Active Cases Outcome 
4 1 11 0 - Referral to Fitness to Practise 

1 - No Further Action 
0 - Undertaking 

2.5 Complaint Cases before Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) 

New Cases Cases Closed Active Cases 

3 2 7 

2.6 Current Active Cases 

Active Cases 
Complaints Registrar Report 

Investigations 
Incapacity Inquiries Total Number of Cases 

115 129 11 255 

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

There were no items sent to Council for decision. 

Complaints Outcomes Registrar Reports 
Investigations 

Outcomes 

21 1 - Referral to Discipline 
3 - SCERP and Oral Caution 
0 - Oral Caution 
2 - SCERP 
3 - Undertaking  
6 - Advice/ Recommendation 
4 - No Further Action 
0 – Frivolous and Vexatious 
2 - Other 

22 3 - Referral to Discipline 
4 - SCERP and Oral Caution 
0 - Oral Caution 
7 - SCERP 
1 - Undertaking  
4 - Advice/ Recommendation 
3 - No Further Action 
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Committee Mandate: 

The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of 
incapacity made against a registrant. 

FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

2021 – Q1 (January to March)  

Committee Members: Marlene Kesler, Public Member, Chair (until February 7, 2022) 
Lloyd White, Public Member, Chair (as of February 8, 2022) 
Sean Adderley, RMT  
Suja Biber, RMT 
Allie Bisset, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Anna Cantalini, RMT 
Bobbie Flint, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022) 
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT 
Sohail Mall, Public Member  
Christin Mandalentsis, RMT (as of February 8, 2022) 
Jay Mathers, Public Member  
Dawn Oehring, RMT 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member  
Lisa Tucker, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Ravara Van Vliet, RMT  
Ian Vining, RMT 
Carolyn Watt, Public Member  
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT 
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 

1. MEETING DATES

The Fitness to Practise Committee held its annual orientation on March 3, 2022. 

2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

Table 2.1 

2.2 Decision Data  

The Fitness to Practise Committee issued one decision in this reporting period.  

2.3 Quarterly Summary of Fitness to Practise Activities   

The table below provides information on activities of the Fitness to Practise Committee. 

Registrant Date(s) of Activity 
in the Quarter 

Type of Activity Status 

1. Registrant X2 March 15 Decision and 
reasons issued 

Completed/closed 

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

There were no items sent to Council for decision. 

1 A case conference, as referenced in the Fitness to Practise Rules of Procedure, is a meeting between the College 
and a registrant to discuss, among other issues, whether any facts can be agreed to, whether any issues can be 
settled or narrowed before the hearing, the content and timing of disclosure, and the scheduling of the hearing.  
2 Given the nature of incapacity proceedings, which involve the disclosure of personal health information, the 
Committee withholds identifying information about registrants from this report. The result of each incapacity 
proceeding is posted on the public register of the College in accordance with the Health Professions Procedure Code, 
which is Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991. 

Fitness to Practise Data 
Total hearings 
completed in the quarter 

- 

Total motions 
heard in the quarter 

- 

Case conferences1 
completed in the quarter 

-

https://www.cmto.com/assets/2019/11/Fitness-to-Practise-Committee-Rules-final.pdf
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 Skip to Main Content 

BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: May 9, 2022 

From:   Maureen Boon, Registrar|CEO 

Re: 2021 Committee Reports 

Purpose: 

To provide Council with reports from all committees that summarizes the committee’s 2021 
activities. 

Public Interest Statement: 

Committees carry out several functions on behalf of Council and these reports help the public 
better understand CMTO’s work. 

For Consideration: 

Reports from each committee are included in the meeting package. The reports have been 
reviewed by committee chairs and will form part of CMTO’s 2021 Annual Report. Committee 
reports may be modified slightly for use in the Annual Report.  

Attachments: 

2021 committee reports 

https://www.cmto.com/imis_eseries/source/Members/publicregister_display.cfm?ID=27938#innerMain
https://www.cmto.com/index.html
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Members: 

Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, President 
Lloyd White, Public Member, Vice President 
Anna Cantalini, RMT, Executive Officer 
Carolyn Watt, Public Member, Executive Officer 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

In 2021, the Executive Committee met 17 times and continued its oversight role  for financial 
monitoring, strategic planning, governance, and risk management practices and responsibilities 
for CMTO. 

The Executive Committee assisted CMTO’s Council in fulfilling its financial monitoring 
responsibilities related to the quality and integrity of financial reporting and control systems. 
The Committee met with the Auditor to discuss the audit engagement and reviewing the results 
of the 2020 financial audit with the Auditor before presentation to Council. 

The Committee met with CMTO’s Investment Advisor to review the performance of the CMTO’s 
investment portfolio. The Committee also reviewed several fee scenarios that informed 
decision-making around the annual renewal fee for 2022 and presented it to Council for 
approval in May 2021, resulting in a small increase to registrants. They also approved the draft 

Committee Mandate: The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the 
Council, the Committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning, 
governance and supervisory responsibilities. The Committee monitors the administration of the 
College  and relies on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions. 
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2022 budget for Council’s consideration. 

The Committee conducted the former Registrar’s 2020 performance appraisal and reported the 
results to Council. 

The Executive Committee undertook an annual review of its Terms of Reference as required 
and evaluated critical risks and uncertainties that may impact the College as determined by 
management. The Committee approved the 2021 – Q4 Organizational Risk Register and the 
process for reviewing risks in 2022. They also provided support to management in its 
communication to RMTs about COVID-19 and strongly encouraged vaccinations for RMTs.  

The Executive Committee considered 64 applicants for CMTO’s non-Council Committee 
positions based on their expertise and knowledge and selected 23 RMTs for these 
positions. 

At the request of the Quality Assurance Committee, the Executive Committee, pursuant to its 
authority under section 34(2)(b) of Ontario Regulation 544/94, required 28 registrants to 
participate in a practice assessment. These registrants had either not completed all of their 
STRiVE requirements in 2020 or had graduated from the Royal Institute of Science and 
Management. 

The College’s contract with Centennial College’s Applied Research, Innovation and 
Entrepreneurship Services ended on December 31, 2021 and the Executive Committee 
reviewed alternate research options. The Committee recommended to Council that the 
contract be extended to ensure administrative oversight of the projects currently funded until 
they are completed, after which the Massage Therapy Research Fund be closed. The 
Committee also granted one request for an extension of a research study due to the impact of 
COVID-19 on the project. 
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REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Members: 
Sohail Mall, Public Member, Chair 
Marlene Kesler, Public Member 
Ravara Van Vliet, RMT  
Ian Vining, RMT  
Sorin Darie, RMT (non-Council Member) 

 
 
 
 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The Registration Committee met five times in 2021. In addition to considering cases referred to 
it by the Registrar, the Committee approved:  

• Changes to the Language Fluency Policy; and
• The revised Examination Candidates Returning After Three Previous Failures Policy.

 The Committee made the following recommendations to Council: 

• To rescind the Examination Failures in Other Jurisdictions Policy; and
• To approve the 2022 Certification Examination Content Outlines.

The Committee also: 

• Completed its annual review of Registration and Certification Examination Policies;
• Updated processes to allow for the inclusion of “X” as a gender option;
• Reviewed a Canadian Free Trade Agreement (CFTA) interpretation update;

Committee Mandate: 
The Registration Committee has responsibility for determining the eligibility for 
registration of all applicants where there is a question about capacity, training, 
experience or education, and/or when the Registrar believes that terms, conditions or 
limitations should be imposed on a certificate. 
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• Received a Jurisprudence Program requirement update;
• Received the Administrative Policy, Registration Documentation Requirement at Initial

Registration (Official Transcripts);
• Received information about CMTO’s response to the Office of Fairness Commissioner’s

Survey – Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic;
• Reviewed and maintained the Remote Tutoring component of the Refresher Course

after the first year of implementation; and
• Received the 2022 Certification Examination Standard Setting Reports.

Statistics 
• CMTO registered 1,147 Registered Massage Therapists (RMTs/MTs).
• In 2021, four applications for registration were referred by the Registrar to the

Registration Committee for review and decision. Reasons for a referral can include
conduct concerns, a criminal conviction or findings of misconduct with another
regulatory body.

Registration Committee Decisions 

Application Decisions 
Direct the Registrar to issue a Certificate of 
Registration. 

1 

Direct the Registrar to impose specified 
terms, conditions, or limitations on a 
Certificate of Registration.  

2 

Direct the Registrar to issue a Certificate of 
Registration if the applicant successfully 
completes additional training specified by 
the Panel.  

1 

Other Decisions 
Request to modify Refresher Course 
requirements –  (Approved) 

1 
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CLIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Members: 

Anna Cantalini, RMT, Chair 
Sohail Mall, Public Member 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member 
Dawn Ricica, RMT (non-Council Member) 

 

 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The Client Relations Committee met twice in 2021.  

In addition to regular updates on the administration of the program for funding for 
therapy/counselling and approval of 20 funding requests, the Committee: 

• Participated in annual orientation and training.
• Reviewed staff’s evaluation of the 2020 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan.
• Approved an updated Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan for 2021-2022. The Plan was then

approved by Council in May 2021 and posted to CMTO’s website.

Committee Mandate: 

The Client Relations Committee has responsibility for all programs and measures 
that are designed to address preventing or dealing with sexual abuse of clients by 
registrants. This responsibility has been extended to address any aspect of 
relations between registrants and their clients. 
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• Discussed updating the Policy – Funding for Therapy and Counselling and ways to
streamline the program. Work on updates to the policy and the development of
additional resources for clients and Massage Therapists will begin in 2022.

• Provided comments on two consent resources – one for clients and one for RMTs – to
support implementation of the new Practice Standard: Consent.

https://www.cmto.com/rules/consent/
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Members: 
Dawn Oehring, RMT, Chair 
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT 
Marlene Kesler, Public Member 
Jay Mathers, Public Member 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member 
Rebecca Cleaveley, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Tammy Contois, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Michael Hayes, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Jianjiang Li, RMT (non-Council Member) 

 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

In 2021, the Quality Assurance Committee (QAC) met five times and 29 Panel meetings were 
held to consider assessment outcomes. 

STRiVE - the Quality Assurance Program ran for its third year and Registered Massage 
Therapists (RMTs/MTs) needed to submit four components by November 30, 2021, including: 

• An E-Learning Module providing an overview of Professionalism and Ethics;
• A Learning Plan;
• A Self-Assessment; and

Committee Mandate: 

The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the development 
and implementation of a Quality Assurance Program in accordance with the Regulated 
Health Professions Act, 1991 and College regulations. 
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• An Experiential Learning Exercise.

By the deadline, 87% of RMTs submitted all four components. CMTO followed up with RMTs 
who did not complete the above requirements by the deadline and the completion rate 
increased to 95% by December 31, 2021.   

860 peer assessments were conducted virtually to assess compliance with the Standards of 
Practice (2006). Panels of the Committee addressed and identified gaps by using a decision-
making framework that helps enhance client care and supports continuing competence and 
quality improvement.   

Following the QAC’s recommendation, Council approved new Standards of Practice in February 
2021. The Standards came into effect on January 1, 2022. CMTO released educational 
resources, including the Standard Spotlights and Standards videos, to help support RMTs in 
applying the new Standards to their practice.  

2021 Peer Assessment Outcomes1 

Outcome 
Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program (SCERP) 273 
No further action 77 
Recommendations 54 
Referral to Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) 16 
Terms, conditions or limitations (TCLs) 7 
Referral for incapacity inquiries 2 
Total 429 

1 The Quality Assurance Panel may decide to order more than one assessment outcome to address any identified 
gaps.  
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Members: 
Lisa Tucker, RMT, Chair 
Sean Adderley, RMT 
Suja Biber, RMT 
Jay Mathers, Public Member 
Carolyn Watt, Public Member 
Lloyd White, Public Member 
Deny Brulotte, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Sandra Cina, RMT (non-Council Member) 
David Janveau, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Cheryl Lewin, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Elisabeth Mathers, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Rossana Rebeccani, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Karalyn Van Aken, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Eric Wu, RMT (non-Council Member) 

 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The ICRC reviews three types of matters: 

• Formal complaints;

Committee Mandate: 

The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is responsible for handling registrant 
specific concerns regarding professional misconduct, incompetence and incapacity 
from various sources (e.g., formal complaints, mandatory reports, information coming 
to the attention of the Registrar). 
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• Registrar Reports, which involve matters outside the formal complaints process that come to
CMTO’s attention (e.g., information from mandatory reports, criminal investigations, employers,
insurance companies, etc.); and

• Incapacity concerns that deal with RMTs who may have a health condition that impacts their
ability to practise safely.

In 2021, the Committee’s work was completed by three Panels, each comprised of five Committee 
Members. The Panels met 29 times over videoconference and four times over email. 

The charts below represent a summary of the work completed by the Committee in 2021.  

New Cases*: 

Type 2021 2020 2019 
Formal complaints 117 97 106 
Registrar’s Report investigations 99 186 102 
Incapacity inquiries 8 14 14 
Total 224 297 222 

*In 2021, CMTO aligned the definition of “New Cases” in the Annual Report with the definition used for the College Performance Measurement 
Framework (CPMF). Year-over-year results of ‘New Cases’ may not be directly comparable. 

Number of New Cases by Type: 

Type 
Sexual Abuse 69 
Professional Conduct & Behaviour 39 
Competence / Patient Care 24 
Record keeping 23 
Intent to Mislead including Fraud 21 
COVID-19 related concerns 15 
Communication 12 
Unauthorized Practice 10 
Registrant Incapacity 8 
Billing and Fees 2 
Harassment / Boundary Violations 1 
Advertising 0 
Total 224 

Incapacity Cases 
Cases Received Cases Decided On Details 

8 3 3 - No further action  

Sources of Information 

Sources 2021 
Public (e.g., clients, police, media) 128 
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Quality Assurance Committee 25 
Other 23 
Employers/Facility Operators 22 
Other RMT 14 
Insurance companies 6 
Self-reports 4 
Other health professionals 2 
Total 224 

ICRC Decisions 

Type 2021 
Referral to discipline 60 
No further action 48 
Recommendation and/or advice 45 
Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program with oral caution 37 
Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program 19 
Undertaking/Agreement – Resign and never reapply 11 
Withdrawn Complaint 3 
Frivolous and vexatious/moot 1 
Oral caution 0 
Undertaking/Agreement – Remediation 0 
Total 224 

Requests for Review of Formal Complaint Matters 

Complainants and registrants have the right to request a review of the ICRC’s decision within 30 days 
unless the decision is to refer the matter to the Discipline or Fitness to Practise Committee. The review 
process is handled by the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB). 

Requests for Review of Complaints to HPARB 

Details of 2021 HPARB matters 6 – reviews outstanding 
6 – ICRC decisions confirmed by HPARB 
2 – request for review denied 
1 – ICRC decisions returned for reconsideration 
1 – review withdrawn 

http://www.hparb.on.ca/
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DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE REPORT 

        

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

Discipline Committee Operations 

The Discipline Committee continued to operate remotely in 2021 and all hearings were held 
virtually. Resources for hearing parties, witnesses and public attendees were developed to 
ensure fairness and to help participants navigate online platforms with ease.   

Continued education and training for Discipline Committee members remained a priority. This 
included an annual orientation and various training sessions on decision writing, best practices 
for electronic hearings, witness accommodations, and avoiding common myths and stereotypes 
in sexual abuse hearings.   

Committee Members: 
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT, Chair 
All Council Members 
Allie Bisset, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Cora Di Pietro, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Sarah Kingsbury, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Jim Marinow, RMT (non-Council Member) 
Cindy McNaughton, RMT (non-Council Member) 

Committee Mandate: 

The Discipline Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of 
professional misconduct or incompetence against registrants. 
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Caseload Statistics 

The Discipline Committee had 98 matters before it in 2021. Of these, 42 were carried forward 
from 2020 and 56 were new matters referred to the Committee in 2021. The Discipline 
Committee: 

• held 23 discipline hearings, of which 12 were contested at the liability, penalty and/or
costs phases1 and 11 were uncontested;

• considered 18 motions, 11 of which involved registrants who resigned and agreed never
to reapply for registration with CMTO in exchange for the College indefinitely adjourning
their hearings. Five other motions were related to requests to withdraw allegations of
professional misconduct against a registrant, and two more were requests to postpone
hearings;

• issued 42 decisions and reasons; and
• closed 41 matters.

Discipline Decisions 

Corresponding decisions and reasons for each closed matter are linked below.2 On occasion, two 
or more discipline matters related to the same registrant are heard at the same hearing. In these 
cases, a single decision is issued, containing the outcome for all matters.  

Alexey Gudov (2020-2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions 
John Paul Ackerman (2021) 
Scott Brown (2020-2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions 
Scott Brown (2020-2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions 
Jasil Puniyanikodan (2020) 
Jasil Puniyanikodan (2021) 
Registrant P (2020-2021) 
Registrant P (2021) 
Registrant P (2021) 
Chris King (2018-2021) 
Kassy Newman (2021) (2 matters) 
Matthew Michael Lessard (2 matters) 
Jessica Jones (2020-2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions  
Jessica Jones (2021) 
Jessica Jones (2021) 
Jessica Jones (2021) 
Jessica Jones (2021) 
Shawn Boycott (2021) 

1 The liability phase of a discipline hearing requires a discipline panel to decide if the allegations of professional 
misconduct or incompetence against a registrant were proven. If the panel decides that the allegations were proven, 
the hearing proceeds to the penalty and costs phase. 
2 The year in which the hearing(s) occurred is provided in brackets. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2020/2020oncmto29/2020oncmto29.html?autocompleteStr=Gudov&autocompletePos=1
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto1/2021oncmto1.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto2/2021oncmto2.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2020/2020oncmto33/2020oncmto33.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto4/2021oncmto4.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2020/2020oncmto34/2020oncmto34.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto5/2021oncmto5.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2020/2020oncmto38/2020oncmto38.html?autocompleteStr=puniyani&autocompletePos=2
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto1/2021oncmto1.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto17/2021oncmto17.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto39/2021oncmto39.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto38/2021oncmto38.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto9/2021oncmto9.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto7/2021oncmto7.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto10/2021oncmto10.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto8/2021oncmto8.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto24/2021oncmto24.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto31/2021oncmto31.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto32/2021oncmto32.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto33/2021oncmto33.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto34/2021oncmto34.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto11/2021oncmto11.html
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Shawn Boycott (2021) 
Todd Bennett (2020-2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions 
Amy Tracey Sarfati (2021) 
Lemar Jaraar  
Ihab Waleed Al-Jundi  
Vladimir Savvateikin (2021) 
Mark Rowsell (2021) 
Amanda Dingman (2021) 
Kai Ming Tang (2021) (2 matters) 
Registrant J (2021) 
Xing Huo Chen (2021) 
Registrant C (2021) 
Dmitri Basmanov (2021) (3 matters) 
Ramil Reyes (2021): Liability and Penalty and Costs Decisions 
Juliette Sharone (2021) 
Brandon Carter-Teixeira (2021) (2 matters) 
Registrant S (2021) 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto12/2021oncmto12.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto14/2021oncmto14.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto22/2021oncmto22.html?autocompleteStr=bennett&autocompletePos=2
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto18/2021oncmto18.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto15/2021oncmto15.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto13/2021oncmto13.html?searchUrlHash=AAAAAQAIc2VjdXJpdHkAAAAAAQ&resultIndex=4
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto20/2021oncmto20.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto19/2021oncmto19.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto16/2021oncmto16.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto23/2021oncmto23.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto37/2021oncmto37.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto26/2021oncmto26.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto36/2021oncmto36.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto25/2021oncmto25.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto21/2021oncmto21.html?autocompleteStr=reyes&autocompletePos=1
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto27/2021oncmto27.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto35/2021oncmto35.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021oncmto29/2021oncmto29.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2021/2021canlii145008/2021canlii145008.html
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FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE REPORT 

   

 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

In 2021, the Fitness to Practise Committee considered two cases carried over from 2020. Both 
cases resulted in a contested hearing1.  

The Committee issued decisions and reasons in one matter, and a decision on the other matter 
is expected in early 2022. No new matters were referred to the Committee in 2021.  

1 Given the nature of incapacity hearings, which involve the disclosure of personal health information, identifying 
information about registrants is not included in this report. The result of each incapacity proceeding is posted on the 
College’s Public Register. 

Committee Members: 

Marlene Kesler, Public Member, Chair 
All Council Members 

Committee Mandate: 

The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for hearing and determining 
allegations of incapacity made against a registrant. 
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AD HOC COMMITTEE ON GOVERNANCE 

Committee Members: Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT (Chair) 
Anna Cantalini, RMT 
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT 
Marlene Kesler, Public Member 
Sohail Mall, Public Member 
Dawn Oehring, RMT 
Lisa Tucker, RMT 

 

SUMMARY OF 2021 ACCOMPLISHMENT AND ACTIVITIES  

In 2021, the Ad Hoc Committee on Governance met three times to: 

• review proposed amendments to by-laws to enable the appointment of public non-
Council members to committees and to ensure competency requirements for elected
members.

• review the standards and measures under the Governance domain in the 2020 College
Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) submission where CMTO partially met
the measures to understand the planned improvement actions that will close the
“improvement gap” and shift the “partially met” measures to “met” with submission of
the 2021 CPMF.

The Committee provided Council with its recommendations at the September 2021 Council 
meeting.  

Committee Mandate: 

To review CMTO’s governance processes and proposed initiatives to support the 
College Performance Measurement Framework’s (CPMF) requirements. In addition, 
the Committee will also review by-laws and legislation to enable the appointment of 
public non-Council members to committees, to reduce the burden on public members 
within the existing legislative framework.  
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 
 

Date: May 2, 2022 
 
  From:    M. Boon, Registrar|CEO 
 

Re: Annual Fee Review  

  
Issue: Council is asked to consider the following proposed 2023 Fee increases: 
 
 1. Increase to application fee from $100 to $225 

 2. Increase to Inactive fee from $200 to 50% of the General Certificate (GC) fee  
3. Increase to GC fee by $100 in 2023, $75 in 2024 and $75 in 2025.   

 
Background: 
 
Financial oversight is a key fiduciary duty1 of Council.  This duty is set out in CMTO’s by-law, 
governance manual, and finance policies and reinforced by reporting obligations in the 
College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF).   
 
By-law No. 7  sets fees for registration, examination and other activities of the College and 
requires Council to annually review the fees.  
 
As part of its Financial Reporting and Compliance responsibilities set out in the Governance 
Handbook, the Executive Committee provides advice to Council with respect to the annual 
fee.  Council reviews and sets the next year’s fee at its meeting in May. 
 
The annual financial planning process is aligned with two College Finance Policies.  

• Policy F14: Financial Planning - ensures that a Multi-Year Plan (MYP) is completed 
each year.  The MYP provides the Executive Committee and Council with a strategic 
view of the College’s finances. The MYP is based on assumptions which can change 
and is not a budget or a guarantee of actual results.  

 

 
1 Undivided loyalty to and diligence re CMTO’s public protection mandate. 

https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/By-Law-No.-7-Fees.pdf
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• Policy F18: Surplus Retention – sets out the recommended unrestricted net assets 
between 3 to 6 months of operational expenditures2.  

 
The CPMF requires each College to report performance against the standards on an annual 
basis. The CPMF Standard 2, Resources, states:  
 
b.            The College: 
i.              has a “financial reserve policy” that sets out the level of reserves the College needs 
to build and maintain in order to meet its legislative requirements in case there are  
unexpected expenses and/or a reduction in revenue and furthermore, sets out the criteria for 
using the reserves. 
ii.             possesses the level of reserve set out in its “financial reserve policy” (surplus 
retention policy). 
 
For the 2022 registration year, the annual fees for registration were: 
• General Certificate: $797 
• Inactive Certificate: $200 
 
As of December 31, 2021, there were 13,255 registrants with a General Certificate and 1,378 
with an Inactive Certificate for a total of 14,633 registrants. 
 
Current Situation: 
 
There are 3 significant pressures on CMTO finances.   
 
1. Deficit:  Projected at $730,000 for 2022.   
 
2. Inflation:  The current inflation rate of 5.7% is significantly higher than the 2% predicted 

for the 2022 fee set in May of 2021.3 It is anticipated that inflation will continue to be 
high, impacting salaries, consulting/legal fees and equipment.   

 
3. Growth:  Staff increases will be required in order to meet regulatory requirements.  For 

planning purposes, we have assumed 3 positions per year at $100,000 each (including 
benefits) for each of 2023, 2024, 2025.   

 
 
  

 
2 Based on current Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) standards and guidance for not-for-profit organizations.  
3 Canada’s inflation rate now at 30-year high of 5.7% (CBC News, March 16, 2022) 
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Potential Impact  
 

Pressure Impact Fee Increase 
Offset 

Deficit $730,000 $54 
Inflation 5% on total projected expenses for 2022 of $12,848,487 $48 
Staff Growth $300,000 per year $22 

TOTAL $124 
 
That’s a potential total increase of $124 for 2023, assuming no other significant projects.  More 
detailed modelling, including revenue and cost reduction proposals, is included below. 
 
Context: 
 
The major drivers of CMTO’s budget are staffing, investigations/hearings and IT projects.  
 
Staffing:  Staffing is anticipated to increase. Staffing plans have not yet been developed, but 
anticipated needs include: 
• Investigative Specialists (to reduce external investigations costs) 
• Governance Specialist (to manage anticipated governance changes) 
• Prosecutor (to reduce external legal prosecution costs) 
 
Complaints and Discipline:  Formal investigations are anticipated to increase by ~8% each year. 
Hearing volumes are expected to remain relatively steady.  However, in addition to bringing 
investigations in-house, work will be done to explore the potential to reduce hearing volumes. 
 
IT:  IT has 2 components, development and maintenance.  CMTO has seen significant IT 
development costs over the past few years relating to the implementation of STRiVE and the 
Thentia database.  IT development is anticipated to decrease over the next few years; however, 
maintenance and enhancements will continue to be required. 
 
There has not been a significant fee increase since 2019, for a variety of reasons, including 
COVID.   
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Approach: 
 
The goals of the proposed approach are to reduce the deficit, account for inflation and enable 
modest staff growth over 3 years.   
 
After analyzing the current situation, the proposed fee increases are based on the following: 
 
• The MYP (see below) is a high level revenue/cost forecast over 3 years.   
• The focus has been to identify the key cost drivers over a 3 year period, without attempting 

to identify every project, in order to provide a general direction, not a detailed forecast.   
• Project plans for key IT projects (Jurisprudence and Risk-Based Assessment) have been 

developed and will inform financial planning for 2022, and the 2023 budgetting process.  
• Fee increases will be required to meet regulatory objectives, as projected in previous years. 

However, fee increases have been proposed over multiple registrant categories, in order to 
limit the impact on GC registrants. 

• Regular fee increases over time are preferable to swings between large increases and zero 
increases for financial, planning and transparency reasons.   

• Council is provided with a recommended approach, not multiple detailed scenarios.   
• CMTO’s Surplus Retention policy recommends unrestricted net assets of 3 to 6 months of 

operational expenditures.  The MYP achieves the objective of 3 months by 2024. 
 
The MYP does not include costs relating to the following: 
• Consulting work or IT development that might result from strategic initiatives identified in 

the new strategic plan, which will not be developed until the end of 2022.  If significant new 
initiatives are identified, fees will need to be re-evaluated. 

• Possible government changes re governance/oversight: 
o Compliance with the French Language Services Act 
o Additional reporting to new oversight structures 
o Responsibility for recruitment and payment of all public members. 

 
In order to accomplish the goals of deficit reduction, inflation planning and modest staff 
growth, the following have been built into the 3 year plan: 
 
Revenue Generation: 
1. Increase to Application Fee 
2. Increase to Inactive Certificate Fee 
3. Increase to General Certificate Fee  

 
Cost Reductions: 
1. Reduction of current external investigation expenses  
2. Reduction in IT development costs  
3. Reduction in space costs 
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REVENUE GENERATION PROPOSAL #1:  INCREASED APPLICATION FEE  
 
Details:   Increase of application fee from $100 to $225 
Impact: Based on an average of 831 new applicants per year, increase to revenue of 

$103,875 
 
Rationale:  
• The application fee hasn’t been increased for 14 years. 
• CMTO has invested in IT upgrades that benefit applicants (most recently with the 

implementation of a fully online application process with tracking capabilities) and these 
costs, and ongoing maintenance costs, are not covered by the current application fee. 

• Volumes have increased; a full FTE is required to manage applications for registration 
matters.   

• The Jurisprudence Program currently in development will be a requirement for registration.  
Rolling the cost of maintaining this program into the application fee rather than charging a 
separate fee simplifies the administration of a program that will be used for more than one 
purpose: at registration, as part of the Refresher Course, and on a voluntary basis by 
registrants. 

Benchmarking: 
Of 16 other health regulators with mandatory jurisprudence at registration: 
• Three do not charge a separate fee for their jurisprudence exam/program. 
• Of those who do charge a fee, the average fee is $137 for the jurisprudence exam/program 

alone. 
• The average application fee for the 16 regulators that require jurisprudence is $213. 
• The average combined fee (jurisprudence plus application fee, including those regulators 

who don’t charge a separate fee for jurisprudence) is $324. 

Current CMTO fees: 
• Application fee: $100 for all applicants 
• Jurisprudence/Standards and Regulations e-Workshop fee: Those who are required to 

complete a jurisprudence component prior to registration (applicants educated outside 
Ontario; applicants whose education is more than three years old and who take the 
Standards and Regs program as part of the Refresher Course) pay $225 for the 
Jurisprudence Exam or for the Standards and Regulations e-Workshop 

• Together, the application fee and jurisprudence fee are $325.  
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Cost recovery: 
• In order to recover the full administrative costs associated with processing applications, the 

application fee would need to be $2834.  
• The recommendation is to increase the application fee to $225 in 2023 and increase by the 

rate of inflation annually thereafter to prevent continuing to fall behind in future. 
• An application/jurisprudence fee of $225 would mean CMTO joins four of 16 other 

regulators with a combined jurisprudence/application fee of $225 or less. 

 
REVENUE GENERATION PROPOSAL #2:  INCREASED INACTIVE FEE  
 
Details:   Increase the Inactive Certificate fee to 50% of the General Certificate fee 
Impact: 50% of the proposed fee of $897 would raise the current fee from $200 to $449 

Based on an average of 1,400 inactive registrants, the net increase to revenue 
would be $348,600 (Dependent on the decision re General Certificate fee) 

 
Rationale:  
• Until 2018, the Inactive fee was just over 30% of the General fee.  With the fee increase for 

2022, the Inactive fee now stands at 25% of the General fee. 
• The original purpose of the Inactive Certificate class was to provide a reduced fee for 

registrants who needed/wanted to take a leave, such as for family or medical reasons, and 
enable them to maintain their registration and return to practise without having to resign 
and reapply.  Historically, Council has been concerned about the financial burden on RMTs 
who aren’t practising. 

• Our data shows that registrants use the Inactive class for the following reasons: 
 

  

 
4 Costs associated with staffing, IT development and Jurisprudence Program maintenance are estimated at more 
than $230,000.  This amount divided by 850 applicants per year (the average number of applicants over the 
previous five years is 831) is $270.  If there is a 5% inflation impact for 2023, that number increases to $283.  
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General to Inactive – Change Reasons 2018-2021 
Reason Given Total Percentage 
On Leave  901 51 
Due to COVID 19 243 14 
Changed Profession 251 34 
Moved to another Province 175 
Moved to another country 92 
<500 direct client care 
hours over previous 3 years 

76 

While under investigation 3 
Retired 115 1 

 
• Of the reasons provided, only those who indicate they are on leave appear to be using the 

Inactive class for the purpose for which it was intended.   
• The disparity between the General and Inactive fees is unintentionally incentivizing 

behaviour that is inconsistent with the original purpose of the Inactive fee. In particular: 
• Some registrants renew as Inactive in November and then change status to General 

Certificate in the new year.  This delays payment of the full fee in November, essentially 
creating an individual payment plan.  Of the 297 registrants who moved from Inactive to 
General since last July, 81 (27%) did it in the first week of January.  This process is 
administratively time-consuming. 

• Under the current QA regulation, Inactive registrants are not required to complete their 
STRiVE requirements. In 2021, only 84 out of 1,400 Inactive registrants completed 
STRiVE, meaning 1,316 did not.  It is possible that some registrants go Inactive in order 
to avoid STRiVE.  While this loophole will be closed in the proposed revised QA 
regulation, the timeline for revisions is currently unclear.   

 
Benchmarking: 

• 15 of 26 health regulatory colleges have an inactive/non-practising class of registration.  
The remaining 11 do not, meaning they charge all registrants the same fee. 

• Of those who do have an inactive/non-practising class, fees charged range from 13-85% 
of the practising fee.   

• Charging 50% of the practising fee would be in line with the majority of regulators who 
do have an inactive/non-practising class. 
 

Considerations: 
• This approach does not eliminate the Inactive class, which remains discounted.   
• CMTO’s responsibility is to regulate the practise of massage therapy.  
• The costs relating to regulation remain the same, regardless of the RMT’s registration class. 
• The Inactive class provides a fee discount to multiple types of registrants, not just those on 

parental leave.   

 
5 This is likely an underestimation, as ‘retired’ was not an option until 2021. 
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• Enabling registrants to avoid their STRiVE requirements is not consistent with our QA 
mandate. 

• If the fee is increased, it is likely that some registrants will resign, some will pay the higher 
fee to remain Inactive, and some will renew as General.  Lost revenue from registrants who 
choose to resign will be offset by the increase in total fees. 

• We do not provide refunds or pro-rate fees for registrants who hold a General Certificate 
for only part of the year. 

• A low Inactive fee was helpful to some registrants during COVID.  However, now that COVID 
has stabilized, it should be less necessary to offer this option. 

• Some registrants, those on parental leave, for example, may be unhappy about this 
increase.  However, the Inactive Certificate class fee is still significantly discounted.   

 
 

REVENUE GENERATION PROPOSAL #3:  INCREASED GENERAL CERTIFICATE (GC) FEE IN 
2023, 2024 AND 2025 
 
Details:   Increase to GC fee by $100 in 2023, $75 in 2024 and $75 in 2025.   
 
Impact: Based on an estimate of 13,500 GC registrants: 
  $1,350,000 in 2023 
  $1,012,500 in 2024 
  $1,012,500 in 2025 
 
Rationale: 
• CMTO’s only source of revenue is registrant fees.   
• Revenue generation proposals #1 and #2 are intended to distribute revenue increases 

across applicants and all registrants, whether or not they are practising.  
• Since 2018, it has been clear that fee increases would be required to support CMTO 

initiatives and ongoing costs. 
• Considerable effort has been made over the past several years to limit costs, limit staff 

growth and improve efficiency.  This approach re: staff (limiting growth, hiring on 
contract and delaying filling budgeted positions) resulted in difficulty completing 
initiatives.   

• While it may have been appropriate to limit fee increases during COVID, this is no 
longer an effective strategy, given the CMTO’s current financial position. 

• Council has an obligation to be fair and reasonable with registrants.  However, its 
fiduciary duty is to the CMTO and its public protection mandate. 

• Cost reduction strategies relating to Complaints and Discipline (reducing external 
investigation and prosecution costs and re-engineering processes to prioritize high risk 
matters and de-prioritize low risk matters) will take time to implement and realize 
results. 
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Benchmarking: 
CMTO has a higher rate of sexual abuse matters than any other health regulatory body.  As 
a result, it has a high rate of both discipline hearings and contested hearings, which drive 
costs. 
 

 
 
How CMTO compares to Colleges with similar DC volumes (2020) 
 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Council has been concerned about the impact of fee increases on both registrants and the 
public.   
 
Registrants 
• Concerns have been expressed about registrants’ ability to pay increased fees for a 

variety of reasons:  income, impact on part-time RMTs and practise interruptions due 
to COVID. 

• There have also been concerns about higher fees driving RMTs to retire or otherwise 
leave the profession, resulting in lower total registrant numbers. 

• While limited or zero fee increases may have been a reasonable approach during the 
practice disruptions of COVID, it is difficult to justify in a post-COVID environment. 

• The 2019 fee increase of $187 (30%) did not result in a decrease in total registrant 
numbers.   

• Even if registrant numbers decrease as a result of fee increases, this would be offset by 
the increased fees.  In addition, those who might choose to leave the profession over 
fees may not be in a position to fully commit to being an RMT. 

 
Public 
• It has been argued that fee increases have a potential impact on public access to 

Massage Therapy.   
• In particular, there is concern that fee increases to RMTs could be passed on to the 

public and make it harder for the public to afford Massage Therapy. 
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• This issue is related to both the value that the public places on Massage Therapy for 
their health and wellbeing, and insurance company benefits.  Massage Therapy fees 
have been relatively stable for some time.  We do not have sufficient data to predict 
how fees might impact the public’s willingness to pay for or ability to access massage 
therapy. 

 
There is no doubt that fee increases have an impact on registrants.  Fee increases also may 
have an impact on the public.  However, the CMTO’s job is to regulate the profession of 
Massage Therapy and fulfil its legislative requirements.   

 
 
COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #1:  REDUCTION IN EXTERNAL INVESTIGATION COSTS  
 
Details: Reduction in the cost of external investigations costs by 40% by   
  2025 by increasing the number of investigations conducted in-house.   
 
Impact:   Reduction from $1.2 million in 2022 to $718,000 in 2025. 
 
Rationale:  
CMTO spends a significant amount of money on external investigations.  While no College 
has been able to completely eliminate external investigations, given there are some 
investigations that are extremely complex (fraud, for example), our goal is to conduct less 
complex investigations in house.   
 
 
COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #2: REDUCTION IN IT DEVELOPMENT COSTS  
 
Details: IT development is expected to decrease over the 2023-2025 period, 

depending on future Council direction re: new initiatives.  Development 
costs have been reduced by 50% to reflect the anticipated conclusion of 
several major projects. 

 
Impact: $161,000 (reflecting 50% reduction in portal development and professional 

practice projects)  
Rationale: 
IT development costs have been high for the past few years, as we implemented STRiVE, a 
new database and are on track to implement Risk-Based Assessment and Jurisprudence.  
However, once these projects are completed, we should see some decrease in IT 
development costs.  We will still have costs related to maintenance, but development will 
be limited to enhancements to current systems. 
 
Note that if there are significant new initiatives resulting from the strategic plan, these costs 
will need to be revisited. 
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COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #3: REDUCTION IN SPACE COSTS 
 
Details:   Sublet a portion of office space (the 9th floor) as soon as possible. 
 
Impact: $100,000 savings/per year starting in 2024. 
 
Rationale: 
• CMTO has moved to a remote first strategy, reducing our space needs.  We are 

currently planning on one in person meeting per committee per year, limiting opening 
hours to 2 mornings per week, and limiting staff attendance at the office to core staff 
and periodic team meetings.   

• This proposal is contingent on our ability to sublet the space. 
 
 
MYP Results: 
 
 

 
 
As a result of the proposed fee increase, the number of months unrestricted net assets will 
begin to return to the range required in the by-law. 
 
 

 
 

RMT GC Fee 785                  797                  897                  972                  1,047               
RMT GC Fee Increase 12                    100                  75                    75                    

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Actual Plan Plan Plan Plan

Revenue 11,649,947     12,114,886     14,166,900     15,486,000     16,837,500     

Staffing 5,487,521       5,940,302       6,733,800       7,582,800       8,490,000       
Compliants and Discipline 2,896,499       2,603,000       2,337,800       2,227,400       2,102,100       
IT development and ongoing technology License 732,389          1,210,391       1,004,100       906,900          868,600          
All other 2,698,503       3,094,794       3,106,900       3,089,700       3,193,100       

Net Income (164,965)         (733,601)         984,300          1,679,200       2,183,700       

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Estimated CMTCA fees (22.00)             (22.00)             (22.44)             (22.89)             (23.35)             
Restricted Nat. Initiatives (336,480)         (343,047)         (356,906)         (371,143)         (385,834)         
Restricted for MTRF 250,000          
Opening Unrestricted 3,365,668       3,589,241       2,512,594       3,139,988       4,448,045       
Income (164,965)         (733,601)         984,300          1,679,200       2,183,700       

Closing Unrestricted 3,589,241       2,512,594       3,139,988       4,448,045       6,245,910       

Operating Expenses 11,814,912     12,848,487     13,182,596     13,806,750     14,653,781     
Monthly Average Expense 984,576          1,070,707       1,098,550       1,150,563       1,221,148       
Number of Months Unrestricted Reserve 3.65                 2.35                 2.86                 3.87                 5.11                 
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Executive Committee consideration 
 
All of the Executive Committee supported the application, inactive and 2023 fee increases.  
The majority of the Executive Committee also supported the 2024 and 2025 fee increases.  
There was discussion about the amount of the 2024 and 2025 fee increases and whether 
they could be lower.  The majority of the Executive Committee felt that it was better to 
prepare the profession for a larger increase, with the potential of reducing it, than to 
promise a lower increase and then have to raise it. 
 
By-law No. 7 Revisions 
 
Should Council approve the proposed fees, By-law No. 7 will require revision.  The proposed 
revision is as follows: 
 
Deletions are struck through; additions are highlighted and underlined. 
 
Application Fee 
7. The fee for an application for the issuance of a certificate of registration of any class is $100. $225 
in 2023 and in subsequent years, this amount will be subject to an increase of not more than the 
annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar.  
 
General Certificate Fee  
8. The initial fee to issue a general certificate of registration and the annual fee for a general 
certificate of registration shall be:  
 
(A) $785 for 2019 $897 for 2023 and in subsequent years,6 Council shall annually review the fees 
and where Council deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount may be subject to 
an increase of not more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar $75 each year; 
or  
 
(B) For new registrants in their first year of eligibility for registration, a percentage of the fee 
payable for the class of certificate for which the applicant is applying that corresponds to the 
number of months remaining in the calendar year, calculated from the date the applicant submitted 
their completed application form; or  
 
(C) When the applicant is moving from the inactive class to the general class, the fee shall be the 
difference between the two fees.  
 
Inactive Fee 

 
6 The proposed changes intentionally do not limit future fee increases to 2024 and 2025.  Doing so would 
essentially make the fee by-law expire after 2025, which is a significant risk.  If Council did not revise the by-law, or 
was unconstituted, it would not be possible to charge a fee at all.  Council will still need to review and approve any 
fee increase every year. 
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9. The initial fee to issue an inactive certificate to a registrant and the annual fee for an inactive 
certificate of registration shall be $200 for 2019 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually 
review the fees and where Council deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount 
may be subject to an increase of not more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest 
dollar. 50% of the fee for a general certificate of registration. 
 
Given that the proposed fee increases are more than inflation, circulation of the by-law will 
be required between May and September Council.  The fee for 2023 needs to be approved 
at September Council, prior to the 2023 annual renewal process.   
 
A by-law consultation will follow the May Council meeting.  A communication plan will be 
developed to explain the fee changes and answer applicant and registrant questions.  To ensure 
transparency for registrants, it will be important to be clear about the rationale for the fee 
increases and the need for fee increases over the next few years in order to stabilize CMTO 
finances. 
 
By-Law No. 7, Schedule A:  Miscellaneous Fee Schedule 
 
As part of the overall review of fees, staff will reviewing the miscellaneous fee schedule.  The 
miscellaneous fees are primarily administrative in nature and will be reviewed to determine 
when they were last raised and whether they sufficiently cover costs associated with the 
services.  Staff do not anticipate significant increases to these fees but will be considering 
which fees should be non-refundable to improve process efficiency. 
 
Under section 18 of the by-law, the Registrar sets the miscellaneous fees, maintains the 
schedule of fees and advises Council of both the schedule and any changes made to it. 
 
Accordingly, any changes to the miscellaneous fee schedule will be brought to September 
Council for information.   
 
Next Steps: 
 
Circulate the proposed by-law to stakeholders.  Feedback will be provided to Council prior to 
final consideration of the by-law. 
 
MOTIONS: 
 

1.  THAT the following proposed amendment to Section 7 of By-Law No. 7 “Fees” be 
 circulated to stakeholders for comment: 
 
 The fee for an application for the issuance of a certificate of registration of any 
 class is  $100225 in 2023 and in subsequent years, this amount will be subject to 
 an increase of not more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest 
 dollar. 
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2. THAT the following proposed amendment to Section 8 (A) of By-Law No. 7 “Fees” 
 be circulated to stakeholders for comment: 
 
 The initial fee to issue a general certificate of registration shall be: 

(A) $785$897 for 201923 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually review 
the fees and where Council deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, 
this amount may be subject to an increase of not more than the annual 
inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar  $75 each year; or 

 
3. THAT the following proposed amendment to Section 9 of By-Law No. 7 “Fees” be 
 circulated to stakeholders for comment: 
 

The initial fee to issue an inactive certificate to a registrant and the annual fee 
for an inactive certificate of registration shall be 50% of the fee for a general 
certificate of registration. $200 for 2019 and in subsequent years, Council shall 
annually review the fees and where Council deems it appropriate, in any one or 
more years, this amount may be subject to an increase of not more than the 
annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar. 

 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment 1: By-Law No. 7 – Fees – Proposed Revisions 
Attachment 2: By-Law No. 7 – Schedule A 
 
 
 
 
 



By-Law No. 7 - Fees for Registration, Examinations and 
Other Activities of the College 
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College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
By-Law No. 7 

Fees for Registration, Examinations and Other Activities of the College 

Interpretation 

1. Singular and Plural / Gender
In these and all by-laws of the College, the singular shall include the plural, the plural shall
include the singular, and any pronouns shall include all genders.

2. Consistency with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA, 1991) and the Massage
Therapy Act, 1991
All provisions of these and all by-laws of the College shall be interpreted in a manner
consistent with the RHPA, 1991 and the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 and where any
inconsistency is found to exist, the inconsistent provision shall, where practical, be severed
from the by-law.

3. Calculating Time
A reference to the number of days between two events means calendar days and excludes the
day on which the first event happens and includes the day on which the second event
happens.

4. Statutory Holidays
A time limit that would otherwise expire on a statutory holiday or a weekend is extended to
include the next day that is not a statutory holiday or a weekend.

Attachment 1



By-Law No. 7 - Fees for Registration, Examinations and 
Other Activities of the College 

September 27, 2021May  9, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 

Definitions 

5. In this by-law, unless otherwise defined or required by the context,

(A) "Act" means the Massage Therapy Act, 1991, and includes the regulations made under it;
(B) "By-laws" means all by-laws of the College;
(C) "Code" means the Health Professions Procedural Code, which is Schedule 2 of the RHPA;
(D) "College" means the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO);
(E) "Council" means the governing body of the College that shall manage and administer its

affairs, the members of which are either elected or appointed in accordance with the
Massage Therapy Act, 1991 and the by-laws;

(F) "General" certificate means a certificate of registration of the general class issued by the
Registrar;

(G) "Inactive" certificate means a certificate of registration of the inactive class issued by the
Registrar;

(H) "Registrant" means a person or health profession corporation registered with the College;
(I) "Registrar" means the Registrar and Chief Executive Officer of the College, or in the case

of the absence or inability of the Registrar, the Deputy Registrar of the College and/or
includes a person appointed as Interim Registrar by the Council;

(J) "RHPA" means the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, including its associated
regulations and the Code.

Any term not defined in this by-law shall have the meaning provided to it in the RHPA, 1991 or the 
Massage Therapy Act, 1991.
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Council Prescribes Fees 

6. Council may prescribe, waive or revoke any fee to be paid to the College by a registrant or any
other person.

Registration Fees 

7. The fee for an application for the issuance of a certificate of registration of any class is
$100225 in 2023 and in subsequent years, this amount will be subject to an increase of not
more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar.

8. The initial fee to issue a general certificate of registration and the annual fee for a general
certificate of registration shall be:

(A) $785897 for 201923 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually review the fees and
where Council deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount may be subject
to an increase of not more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar$75
each year; or

(B) For new registrants in their first year of eligibility for registration, a percentage of the fee
payable for the class of certificate for which the applicant is applying that corresponds to
the number of months remaining in the calendar year, calculated from the date the
applicant submitted their completed application form; or

(C) When the applicant is moving from the inactive class to the general class, the fee shall be
the difference between the two fees.

9. The initial fee to issue an inactive certificate to a registrant and the annual fee for an inactive
certificate of registration shall be 50% of the fee for a general certificate of registration $200
for 2019 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually review the fees and where Council
deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount may be subject to an increase of
not more than the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar.

10. In addition to the amounts set out in section 8 and 9, any outstanding balance owing to the
College in respect of any decision made by a committee and any fees payable under this by-
law, will be added to and included in the annual fees.

11. Every registrant shall pay an annual fee to the College by December 31, 2018 for the fees
owing for 2019, and by November 1 in each subsequent year for the fees owing for the
following year.

Certificate of Authorization – Professional Corporations 
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12. (A) The initial fee to issue a Certificate of Authorization - Professional Corporations is $200.
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(B) The annual renewal fee for a Certificate of Authorization – Professional Corporations is
$200.

Late Fees 

13. Every registrant who fails to pay the annual fee or submit a fully completed renewal form on
or before November 1 shall pay a penalty of $100 for late renewal of registration.

Reinstatement Fees 

14. The fee for reinstatement of a certificate of any class that had been suspended for failure to
pay a fee either prescribed by the Regulations or required by the by-laws is the amount of the
fees and penalties outstanding plus the reinstatement fee of $300.

15. An applicant requesting a hearing pursuant to the Code of the RHPA, 1991, to consider
reinstatement of his or her certificate of registration shall pay a fee of $600.

Elections 

16. Where a candidate in an election to the Council wishes for a recount of the election ballots:

(A) The candidate shall pay a fee of $100; and,

(B) The fee paid shall be refunded to the candidate if the outcome of the election is changed
in his or her favour as a result of the recount.

Administrative Fees 

17. After the first notice, a registrant shall pay an administrative fee, set out in the Miscellaneous
Fee Schedule, for each subsequent notice sent by the Registrar to a registrant for failure of the
registrant to provide information or a form to the College or a committee of the College within
30 days of being requested or required to do so. The fee is due within 30 days of the
subsequent notice being sent.

Miscellaneous Fees 

18. (A) The Registrar may set a fee, and require a person to pay the fee, for anything that the
Registrar or a committee is required or authorized to do by law or the by-laws, for which 
no fee has been set by Council. 
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(B) The Registrar shall maintain a schedule of the fees charged for services provided by the
Registrar and by committees, and shall advise Council of the fee schedule and of any
changes made to it.

Power to Waive a Fee 

19. The Registrar may waive all or a portion of any fee or penalty where they consider it
appropriate to do so.

20. A registrant’s obligation to pay a fee or penalty continues regardless of whether:

(A) The College fails to send a notice with respect to the fee or penalty; or

(B) The registrant fails to receive notice of a fee or penalty.

21. Any fee or penalty charged or imposed by the College not paid by a registrant shall be
included as part of a registrant’s next renewal fee. If a registrant fails to pay a penalty or a fee,
or a part thereof, set out in the by-laws:

(A) The Registrar shall give the registrant notice if the College intends to suspend the
registrant; and

(B) The Registrar may suspend the registrant’s certificate of registration or certificate of
authorization for failure to pay the fee or penalty within 30 days after notice is given.

22. The Miscellaneous Fee Schedule forms part of this by-law.

Administration 

23. This by-law shall be administered by the Registrar.

Effective Date 

24. This by-Law comes into force on the day enacted.

Enacted July 7, 2000 
Amended September 2004, February 2005, September 2006, May 2007, November 2008, 
May 2010, May 2015, May 2018, September 2018, May 2019, December 31, 2020,         
September 2021, May 2022 
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College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
By-Law No. 7, Schedule A 

Miscellaneous Fee Schedule 

Quality Assurance Program 

1. Peer reassessment: $250
2. Practice/Peer assessment ordered as a result of a failure to comply with the Quality

Assurance Program: $250
3. Fee for re-scheduling Practice/Peer assessment less than two (2) weeks from date of

assessment: $100
4. Fee for re-scheduling Practice/Peer assessment less than one (1) week from date of

assessment: $250
5. Follow-up Administrative fee for non-compliance with the Quality Assurance Program: $35

Registration 

6. Certificate of the Registrar: $20
7. Replacement certificate of registration: $25
8. Non-Sufficient Funds (NSF) fee (cheque or credit card): $25
9. Letter of verification of registration: $25
10. Follow-up letter for incomplete renewal, incomplete initial registration application and

replacement of initial registration application: $35
11. Application fee for Massage Therapy Education and Credential Assessment: $100
12. Assessment fee for Massage Therapy Education and Credential Assessment: $850

Workshops 

13. Professionalism Workshop: $175
14. Standards and Regulations E-workshop: $225
15. Recordkeeping E-workshop: $225
16. Cancellation of participation at workshops less than two days prior to workshop: $100

Enacted July 7, 2000 
Amended October 2005, August 2008, July 2010, May 2015, February 2017, June 2018, 
January 2021 

Attachment 2
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: April 29, 2022 

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO

Re: Proposed By-law Amendment:  Deputy Registrar 

Issue: 

To ensure flexibility and succession planning, Council is being asked to consider revisions to By-
Law No. 9 “The Registrar”, s3. Deputy Registrar. 

Background: 

The existing by-law indicates that the Deputy Registrar becomes acting Registrar when the 
Registrar is absent, unavailable or when the position becomes vacant. 

The proposed by-law creates flexibility by the following: 

1. Enables the Registrar to appoint a staff person as Deputy Registrar, for any period of time.

Operational needs are currently being evaluated and it is not anticipated that a Deputy Registrar 
will be hired this year.  This revision ensures that a Deputy Registrar could be hired in future, but 
also allows the Registrar to designate a temporary Deputy as required. 

2. Distinguishes the roles of Deputy Registrar and Acting Registrar.

This revision enables Council to appoint anyone as Acting Registrar, whether or not there is a 
Deputy Registrar in place.  If a Deputy Registrar was in place, Council would have the flexibility to 
appoint that person or another person as Acting Registrar. 



Proposed Revision: 

Current Language: 

Deputy Registrar  
3. The Deputy Registrar of the College shall be the Acting Registrar and have all of the powers
and authorities of the Registrar should the Registrar be unable to act due to absence from the
College or being unavailable or the position of the Registrar becoming vacant. The appointment
of the Deputy Registrar as the Acting Registrar shall continue unless and until the Executive
Committee or Council by resolution appoints another person as the Acting Registrar.

Deputy Registrar 
3. The Registrar may appoint a staff person of the College to act as Deputy Registrar at any time
and for any period of time, and when so appointed, that person shall have all the powers and
authorities of the Registrar that are delegated to them by the Registrar.

Acting Registrar 
4. The Council or the Executive Committee may appoint an Acting Registrar if the Registrar is
unable to act due to absence or is unavailable or if the position of Registrar becomes vacant.
When so appointed, that person shall have all the powers and authorities of the Registrar.
The appointment of the Acting Registrar shall continue unless and until the Executive Committee
or Council, by resolution, terminates the appointment of the Acting Registrar.

Draft MOTION: 

THAT the proposed amendments to By-Law No. 9 “The Registrar”, be approved by 
Council. 

Attachment 1:  By-Law No. 9 “The Registrar” 
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College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
By-Law No. 9 

The Registrar 

Interpretation 

1. Consistency with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA, 1991) and the
Massage Therapy Act, 1991
All provisions of these and all by-laws of the College shall be interpreted in a manner
consistent with the RHPA, 1991 and the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 and where any
inconsistency is found to exist, the inconsistent provision shall, where practical, be severed
from the by-law.

Agenda Item 7.2 
Attachment 1
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Definitions 

1. In this by-law, unless otherwise defined or required by the context,

(A) "By-laws" means all by-laws of the College;
(B) "College" means the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO);
(C) "Registrar" means the Registrar and Chief Executive Officer of the College, or in the case

of the absence or inability of the Registrar, the Deputy Registrar of the College and/or
includes a person appointed as Interim Registrar by the Council;

(D) "Resolution" means a vote of a majority of those Council members in attendance at the
meeting and voting on the resolution, where a quorum is present;

(E) "RHPA" means the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, including its associated
regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code, which is Schedule 2 of the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

Any term not defined in this By-Law shall have the meaning provided to it in the RHPA, 1991 or 
the Massage Therapy Act, 1991. 
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Registrar 
 

2. (A) The Registrar holds the most senior position on the College's staff and is the Chief 
 Executive Officer of the College. 

 
(B) The Registrar is directly accountable to Council and, between Council meetings, to the 

Executive Committee. 
 

(C) The Registrar's duties include: 
 
i. Overseeing the operations of and management of the College in accordance with the 

established governance policies as approved by Council; 
 

ii. Ensuring compliance with statutory obligations; 
 

iii. The Registrar may set a fee, and require a person to pay the fee, for anything that 
the Registrar or a committee is required or authorized to do by law or the by-laws, 
for which no fee has been set by Council; and 

 
iv. Any other duty determined by Council. 

 
Deputy Registrar  

 
3.  The Deputy Registrar of the College shall be the Acting Registrar and have all of the powers 

and authorities of the Registrar should the Registrar be unable to act due to absence from 
the College or being unavailable or the position of the Registrar becoming vacant. The 
appointment of the Deputy Registrar as the Acting Registrar shall continue unless and until 
the Executive Committee or Council by resolution appoints another person as the Acting 
Registrar.The Registrar may appoint a staff person of the College to act as Deputy Registrar 
at any time and for any period of time, and when so appointed, that person shall have all 
the powers and authorities of the Registrar that are delegated to them by the Registrar.  

 
Acting Registrar 
  
4. The Council or the Executive Committee may appoint an Acting Registrar if the Registrar is 

unable to act due to absence or is unavailable or if the position of Registrar becomes 
vacant. When so appointed, that person shall have all the powers and authorities of the 
Registrar. The appointment of the Acting Registrar shall continue unless and until the 
Executive Committee or Council, by resolution, terminates the appointment of the Acting 
Registrar. 

 
 

Administration 
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5.4. This By-Law shall be administered by the Council of the College. 
 

Effective Date 
 

6. This By-Law comes into force on the day enacted. 
 
 

Enacted November 19, 1999 
Amended May 2014 
Amended May 2022 
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: April 29, 2022 

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO

Re: Strategic Planning – Establishment of Ad Hoc Committee 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

Issue:  

CMTO’s current strategic plan was intended to cover 2019-2021. In order to ensure that a 
new strategic plan is in place for 2023, Council is asked to establish an ad hoc Strategic 
Planning Committee. 

Public Interest:  

A strategic plan sets out how the CMTO intends to achieve its mandate of protecting the 
public.  

Background: 

The 2016-2018 strategic plan was developed after a complete visioning and planning 
process, conducted by an external consultant. In 2019, Sam Goodwin led a refresh of the 
strategic plan for the next three years (2019-2021). This plan, which focusses on 3 goals of 
transparency, quality and regulatory modernization, is currently in place.  

The strategic plan is supported by the workplan, which sets out specific projects under each 
of the 3 goals. 

Ultimately, the strategic plan should inform the workplan, the Registrar’s objectives and the 
key performance indicators. Work will need to be done to ensure these 3 elements are 
aligned. 

Strategic planning is one of the board’s key responsibilities, along with general oversight 
and management of the Registrar|CEO. 
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Current Status: 

CMTO will retain a consultant to develop a strategic planning process and assist Council in 
developing a new strategic plan.  

CMTO will invite proposals for a project to provide the CMTO with thought leadership, 
planning and facilitation services culminating in the development of a strategic plan, 
action/workplan and key performance indicators. 

Key Project Deliverables 
1. Environmental Scan
2. Strategic Planning Council Retreat/Workshop
3. Strategic Plan, including strategic priorities and objectives for each strategic priority
4. A five-to-eight-page summary Strategic Plan presentation document with infographics

suitable for internal and external communications including posting to CMTO’s website.
5. Action/workplan and key performance indicators to facilitate Council’s oversight of the

strategic plan.

Budget 
A maximum of $50,000 has been budgeted for this project. 

Requests for Proposals (RFP) 
The RFP has been sent to 3-5 consultants/firms, representing a range of experience and 
size.  

Creation of an Ad Hoc Strategic Planning Committee  
The Executive Committee recommends that Council create an ad hoc Strategic Planning 
Committee under By-Law No. 5 “Committees of the College”, s2(B). To do this, Council 
needs to articulate the mandate, composition, duties and period of existence of the 
committee, appoint the members and select a chair. A proposed committee description is 
as follows: 

Mandate To oversee the strategic planning process, and work with the consultant to review 
and recommend a draft strategic plan for consideration and approval by Council. 

Composition 5-6 members (2-3 professional, 2-3 public)
Duties Consultant selection, oversight of process, participation in strategic planning retreat, 

review of draft report and recommendation to Council 
Term May – December 2022 
Time 
Commitment 

8-10 meetings (1 hour - could be scheduled in the evening if required)
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Timelines 

Date Milestone 

April 27, 2022 

April 29, 2022 

Email to Council re interest in participating in ad hoc 
Strategic Planning Committee 

RFP Issuance 

May 6, 2022 Vendors confirm intention to submit a proposal 

May 13, 2022 by 4 pm EDT Deadline for receiving submissions to RFP 

May 16-20, 2022 Meetings with short-listed bidders 

May 27, 2022 Notification of successful bidder 

June 3, 2022 Contract signed 

June 6, 2022 Proposed project start date 

September 19/20, 2022 Proposed in person strategic planning day with Council. 

November 28/29, 2022 Project completion deadline. Approval of Strategic Plan at 
November Council meeting. 

Draft Motions: 

1. THAT Council establish a Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee consisting of
(names).

2. THAT Council appoint (name) as Chair of the Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee.

3. THAT Council approve the draft Terms of Reference of the Strategic Planning Ad Hoc
Committee as presented.

Attachment 1: Draft Terms of Reference 
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Terms of Reference  

Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee 

1. Statement of Purpose

The purpose of the Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee is to oversee the strategic 
planning process, and work with the consultant to review and recommend a draft 
strategic plan for consideration and approval by Council.   

2. Accountability and Authority

The Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee is an ad hoc committee of the Council, and as such, is 
accountable to the Council of the College and must report on any decisions made between 
regular meetings, including an annual report on its activities.  

The Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee shall have access to resources necessary to carry out 
its responsibilities including legal advice as appropriate. 

The Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee is expected to operate in compliance with the 
College’s Code of Conduct, policies, by-laws and regulations. 

3. Size and Composition

The Ad Hoc Committee on Governance consists of 5-6 members. 
Public Members (2-3)   
Professional Members (2-3) 

4. Term of Office

The Committee will provide Council with its recommendations at the November 2022 
Council meeting after which it is expected that its mandate will end and the ad hoc 
committee will be dissolved. 

5. Meetings

The Committee will meet virtually, as needed, from May 2022 until December 2022. 
Minutes and action items will be documented. 
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6.  Quorum and Motions  
 
A quorum of the Ad Hoc Committee is consistent with the by-laws and shall be 50% plus 
one of the committee members.  At the first Committee meeting, a Chair shall be selected 
from amongst the committee members. 
 
7.  Staff Support 
 
The Registrar, Director of Policy & Communications and the Senior Executive Assistant will 
provide administrative support.  
   
 
 
Approved:  May 9, 2022 
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: April 29, 2022 

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO
N. Garnette, Director, Professional Conduct

Re: Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) – Establishment of Ad Hoc Committee 

Issue:  Council has indicated that it would like to prioritize diversity, equity and inclusion.  Council 
is provided with an overview of existing DEI initiatives, at CMTO and elsewhere, and asked to 
establish an ad hoc DEI Committee. 

Current DEI Initiatives: 

•Pronouns
•Mandatory training via SHIELD
•Membership in CCDI (Canadian Centre for Diversity and Inclusion)
•Diversity messaging re recruitments

Staff

•Educational sessions x4
•Land acknowledgement and Indigenous awareness session (2021)

Council

•Pronoun option on public register
•Accommodations for registrants at examination (via Prometric), but also at and after registration

Registrants

•Translation of complaints-based info into 8 languages

Public

•Diversity consideration re appointment of non-council committee members - particularly for
non-council public members

•Bias training at Discipline Committee

Committees

•HPRO Anti-BIPOC Working Group (further information below)

Collaboration



HPRO Anti-BIPOC Racism Working Group 

• CMTO has been participating as a member of the HPRO Anti-BIPOC Racism working group since
2020. Work to date includes:

o DEI literature search and environmental scan,
o DEI training for HPRO’s Board of Directors and Working Group members, and
o Survey/focus groups of registrants/Council members/staff.

• In September 2021, the group received a report with findings and recommendations from
consultant Dr. Javeed Sukhera. The Executive Summary is attached.

• The recommendations reflect the complexity of the issues and the significant potential work to be
done.

• Following the recommendations, the Working Group is planning work in the following areas:

1. DEI self-assessment checklist and reporting tool
Goal: To evaluate key areas of statutory and organizational functions in the context of DEI
best-practices, identify required actions for improvement, and measure progress to improve
DEI performance. This links to the HPRO consultant’s ‘measure and monitor’ recommendation.

2. Equity Impact Assessment tool, manual and training
Goal: To ensure that decisions are fair and that a policy, program, or process is not
discriminatory. This links to the HPRO consultant’s ‘dismantle and co-construct’ and ‘adapt to
serve’ recommendations.

3. Participation in HPRO EDI/DEI ‘Community of Practice’
Goal: To stay abreast of HPRO Colleges’ DEI efforts and support the sharing of resources. This
links to the HPRO consultant’s ‘build and collaborate’ recommendation.

4. EDI toolkit and training
Goal: To develop a customized diversity and inclusion strategy document and implementation
plan with training. This links to the HPRO consultant’s ‘build and collaborate’ and ‘train for the
future’ recommendation.

5. Letter to Public Appointment Secretariat
Goal:  To raise government awareness of the need for diverse appointments, including French
language needs. This links to the HPRO consultant’s ‘improve representation’
recommendation.

This work will need to be conducted or supported by consultants, and is dependent on funding, which 
is why it hasn’t moved forward yet. However, we anticipate that much of this work will be done this 
year. 

Considerations: 

Workplan 
DEI is on the 2022 workplan. The outcome is ‘Council increases its understanding of key DEI areas and 
considers potential initiatives for inclusion in the next Strategic Plan. The deliverable is ‘An education 
and discussion session will occur at each Council meeting in 2022. DEI areas of focus will include 



indigenous issues, anti-BIPOC racism and gender diversity.’ 

A larger DEI initiative was not contemplated for 2022. However, the individual projects, as set out in 
the table above, demonstrate CMTO’s commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion in a variety of 
ways. 

Other Colleges 
While many Colleges are still considering how they intend to approach DEI, or are waiting for the work 
being done by HPRO, a few Colleges have embedded DEI into their work. Examples are provided here: 

1. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO)
The CPSO has a webpage dedicated to EDI which includes a statement of commitment and an
extensive list of resources intended to be helpful in the ‘life-long journey of learning and
unlearning’.
https://www.cpso.on.ca/Physicians/Your-Practice/Physician-Advisory-Services/Equity,-Diversity-
and-Inclusion

It also released a report on EDI-related activities in 2021. The CPSO has designated a staff EDI Lead 
and prioritizes one area of focus per year. In 2022, it is anti-Black racism and LGBTQsSIA+1.  
https://www.cpso.on.ca/admin/CPSO/media/Documents/physician/your-practice/physician-
advisory-services/edi/edi-report-2021.pdf   

2. College of Dietitians of Ontario (CDO)
The CDO also has a dedicated webpage and an EDI lead. It surveyed individuals regarding their
interactions with the CDO and whether they experienced prejudice either directly or indirectly. It
also struck an EDI-B2 Taskforce to foster awareness, build capacity, ensure sustainability of EDI-B
initiatives and develop and monitor metrics.

https://www.collegeofdietitians.org/about-us/equity-diversity-inclusion.aspx 

DEI and the Strategic Plan 
DEI is one of several possible issues3 that could be identified as strategic initiatives resulting from the 
strategic plan, depending on the results of that discussion.   

Strategic initiatives are the means through which an organization translates its goals and vision into 
practice.  They are large and complex, usually involving more than one project. 

The advantage of being explicit about strategic initiatives is to ensure clear project identification, 
planning and budgeting, particularly for projects that extend over more than one year. 

DEI is important, broad and complex.  Moving forward will require careful consideration of options, 
prioritization in light of other initiatives, retention of expert consultants and an ongoing commitment 
of time and resources. 

1 Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Transsexual, Queer and Questioning Two-Spirit, Intersex, Asexual  
2 DEI:  Diversity, Equity and Inclusion; EDI:  Equity, Diversity and Inclusion; EDI-B:  Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and 
Belonging 
3 Other issues that may be useful as inputs to strategic planning include:  Education (Student/Educator Outreach), 
Culture (values that underpin the strategic plan), and Data Management. 

https://www.cpso.on.ca/Physicians/Your-Practice/Physician-Advisory-Services/Equity,-Diversity-and-Inclusion
https://www.cpso.on.ca/Physicians/Your-Practice/Physician-Advisory-Services/Equity,-Diversity-and-Inclusion
https://www.cpso.on.ca/admin/CPSO/media/Documents/physician/your-practice/physician-advisory-services/edi/edi-report-2021.pdf
https://www.cpso.on.ca/admin/CPSO/media/Documents/physician/your-practice/physician-advisory-services/edi/edi-report-2021.pdf
https://www.collegeofdietitians.org/about-us/equity-diversity-inclusion.aspx


Measurements  
There are many ways to benchmark and set objectives relating to DEI.  Examples include: 
• The Global Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Benchmarks:  Standards for Organizations Around the

World
o Includes 15 categories and concrete actions and 275 benchmarks at 5 levels

• Watson:  DEI Health Check and Accelerator
o 33 questions intended to evaluate a Board’s DEI health, including Purpose,

Leadership/Oversight, Culture, Composition, Practices, Policies.

Creation of an Ad Hoc Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) Committee 

The Executive Committee recommends that Council create an ad hoc Diversity, Equity and Inclusion  
(DEI) Committee under By-Law No. 5 “Committees of the College”, s2(B). To do this, Council needs to 
articulate the mandate, composition, duties and period of existence of the committee, appoint the 
Members and select a chair.  A proposed committee description is as follows: 

Mandate To review the available information and provide a preliminary 
recommendation to inform the Strategic Planning process 
about what a strategic initiative might include and potential 
initiatives for consideration and how they will be measured. 

Composition 5 members (2-3 professional, 2-3 public) 
Duties Review of various DEI materials including consideration of the 

HPRO Anti-BIPOC Racism working group 
recommendations/tools.   

Term May – August 2022 
Time Commitment 3-4 meetings (1 hour- could be scheduled in the evening if

required)

Draft Motions: 

1. THAT Council establish a Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee consisting of
(names).

2. THAT Council appointment (name) as Chair of the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc
Committee.

3. THAT Council approve the draft Terms of Reference of the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad
Hoc Committee as presented.

Attachments: 

1. Advancing Equity and Anti-Racism in Health Profession Regulation (Executive Summary):  Prepared
for HPRO Anti-BIPOC racism working group – September 2021

2. Draft Terms of Reference
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Terms of Reference  

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI) Ad Hoc Committee 

1. Statement of Purpose

The purpose of the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee is to review the available 
information and provide a preliminary recommendation to inform the Strategic Planning 
process about what a strategic initiative might include and potential initiatives for 
consideration and how they will be measured. 

2. Accountability and Authority

The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee is an ad hoc committee of the Council, and 
as such, is accountable to the Council of the College and must report on any decisions made 
between regular meetings, including an annual report on its activities.  

The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee shall have access to resources necessary to 
carry out its responsibilities including legal advice as appropriate. 

The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee is expected to operate in 
compliance with the College’s Code of Conduct, policies, by-laws and regulations. 

3. Size and Composition

The Ad Hoc Committee on Diversity, Equity & Inclusion consists of 5 members. 

Public Members (2-3)   
Professional Members (2-3) 

4. Term of Office

The Committee will provide Council with its recommendations at the September 2022 
Strategic Planning Retreat, after which it is expected that its mandate will end and the ad 
hoc committee will be dissolved. 
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5. Meetings

The Committee will meet virtually, as needed from May 2022 until August 2022. Minutes 
and action items will be documented. 

6. Quorum and Motions

A quorum of the Ad Hoc Committee is consistent with the by-laws and shall be 50% plus 
one of the committee members. At the first Committee meeting, a Chair shall be selected 
from amongst the committee members. 

7. Staff Support

The Registrar, Director of Registration and delegate will provide administrative support. 

Approved:  May 9, 2022 



SEPTEMBER 28, 2021

ADVANCING EQUITY AND 
ANTI-RACISM IN HEALTH 
PROFESSION REGULATION
PREPARED FOR THE HEALTH PROFESSION 
REGULATORS OF ONTARIO ANTI-BIPOC RACISM 
WORKING GROUP

DR. JAVEED SUKHERA



DR. JAVEED SUKHERA EQUITY & ANTI RACISM IN REGULATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The importance of advancing equity and anti-racism within health professions has 
gained recent attention. Regulators have attempted to increase diversity while 
seeking structural reforms to advance equity. However, efforts remain constrained 

while persons from racialized groups continue to experience discrimination. To support a 
more fulsome, rigorous, and sustained effort in this area, the Health Profession Regulators 
of Ontario (HPRO) sought external consultation and commissioned a report to inform 
future work.  

Several activities were conducted including a literature search, environmental scan, focus 
group, and a survey. There were multiple discussions with HPRO’s Anti-BIPOC Racism 
Working Group, and this report provides a set of key findings and recommendations: 

1
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FINDINGS 
1. Specific areas where equity and anti-racism must be addressed within regulatory 

organizations include registration, complaints/discipline, and policy/governance. 

2. Regulators have an important role in addressing equity/anti-racism that will require 
that they expand beyond their traditional role and embrace thought leadership. 

3. An often overlooked discourse relating to equity/anti-racism in health professional 
regulation involves prejudice and discrimination experienced by regulated health 
professionals, often from patients. 

4. Advancing equity and anti-racism for regulators must also consider the distinct nature 
of such issues within regulatory organizations and their workplaces. 

5. Addressing equity/anti-racism within a diverse group of health profession regulatory 
organizations also requires attention to inequities and disparities between and among 
professions related to available resources and power asymmetries. 
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Recommendations 
1. BE Thought Leaders: Regulators must work across traditional boundaries and 

divisions to be thought leaders in equity/anti-racism work. 

2. ADAPT to serve: The traditional role of the regulator as the protector of the 
public must adapt to consider prejudice and discrimination experienced by health 
professionals in relation to the statutory mandate of regulatory organizations. 

3. TRAIN for the future: Activities that address equity and anti-racism must 
include education and awareness raising, however, must move beyond awareness 
raising towards skill development and action. 

4. MEASURE and monitor: A standardized scorecard should be established to 
assist regulators in auditing their practices and embedding equity and anti-racism 
related monitoring and performance metrics into their operations. 

5. DISMANTLE and co-construct: Regulators should critically appraise 
existing policies and consider an inclusive approach to policy co-design with 
racialized and minoritized stakeholders. 

6. IMPROVE representation: Regulators must work to improve representation 
and diversity within regulatory staff and regulatory governance. 

7. BUILD and collaborate: Before undertaking any equity/anti-racism initiatives, 
regulators must consider how to embed resourcing and infrastructure for equity and 
anti-racism within their organizations. 
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date: April 21, 2022 

From: M. Boon, Registrar|CEO 
C. Ralph-Edwards,  Controller

Re: 2022-Q1 Financial Report 

Issue: 

Council is asked to approve the unaudited 2022 – Q1 YTD Statement of Operations and Statement 
of Financial Position.  

Background: 

Each Quarter, Executive Committee and Council are provided with updates, noting trends, 
financial activity, and challenges. The unaudited 2022-Q1 financial statements presented include: 

Appendix A: Statement of Operations 

A summary of revenues and expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 and compared to 
the 2022-Q1 budget. Overall, there is a surplus of $597,454 in 2022-Q1; an increase of $586,715 
compared to Q1 budgeted surplus of $10,739. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are 
explained in the attached.  

Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position 

The financial position as at 2022-Q1 compared to 2021-Q1 unaudited Statement of Financial 
Position. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are explained in the attached. 

Draft Motion: 

THAT Council approve the unaudited 2022-Q1 Statement of Operations and 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Agenda Item 8.1
Quarterly Reporting

For Approval

https://www.cmto.com/imis_eseries/source/Members/publicregister_display.cfm?ID=27938#innerMain
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Appendix A: Statement of Operations 
2022-Q1 Budget vs. Actuals (Unaudited) 

 

 
 

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario 
Statement of Operations (Unaudited)
2022 Q1 Financial Report

A B C D=A-C E=D/A

 2022
FY Budget 

 2022
YTD Budget 

 2022
YTD Actual 

 Variance ($)
Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

Variance %
+ Fav, - Unfav*

Notes**

Revenues
Registration fees 11,960,900$      2,979,390$        3,021,736$        42,346$              1% NM
Examination fees -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    NM
Investment income 153,986$           38,496$              43,071$              4,575$                12% NM

12,114,886$     3,017,886$       3,064,808$       46,921$             2%

Expenses
Council and committees 335,000$           77,692$              51,296$              26,397$              34% NM
Complaints and discipline 2,603,000$        650,750$           562,641$           88,109$              14% [1]
Examinations -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    NM
Quality assurance 638,701$           159,675$           75,494$              84,181$              53% [2]
Communications 143,500$           35,875$              760$                   35,115$              98% NM
Salaries and benefits 5,940,302$        1,366,731$        1,299,813$        66,919$              5% [3]
Consulting fees 288,140$           72,035$              25,987$              46,048$              64% NM
Professional fees 165,000$           30,000$              4,341$                25,659$              86% [4]
Rent and operating costs 618,431$           154,608$           151,108$           3,500$                2% NM
Office and general 1,536,414$        314,781$           163,361$           151,420$           48% [5]
Contributions to national initiatives 350,000$           87,500$              92,120$              (4,620)$               -5% NM
Contribution to massage therapy research -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    NM
Amortization - capital assets 230,000$           57,500$              39,821$              17,679$              31% NM
Amortization - intangible assets -$                    612$                   (612)$                  NM

12,848,488$     3,007,148$       2,467,353$       539,794$           18%

(733,602)$         10,739$             597,454$           586,715$           5463%Surplus/(Deficit)

*A variance should be indicated appropriately as "favorable" or "unfavorable." A favorable variance is one where revenue comes in higher than budgeted, or 
when expenses are lower than predicted. The result could be greater income than originally forecast. Conversely, an unfavorable variance occurs when 
revenue falls short of the budgeted amount or expenses are higher than predicted.  

**NM= not material
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Appendix A: Statement of Operations 
Notes: Variances to Budget 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note Financial Statement Line Item

Variance 
$

Increase/
(Decrease)

Variance 
%

+ Fav, - Unfav

Explanation

(1) Complaints and Discipline (C&D) $88,109 14%

Favourable variance due to discipline costs under budget in Q1 expected to be timing difference associated with matters that
will proceed during the remainder of the year.

(2) Quality assurance $84,181 53%
Favourable variance primarily due to timing differences in peer assessor fees and training. Expenses will be realized over the
course of the remaining quarters. 

(3) Salaries and Benefits $66,919 5% Net savings due to hiring delays and staff departures. 

[4] Professional Fees $25,659 86% Net savings due to lower legal costs incurred in Q1, it is anticipated this variance will reverse during the year. 

[5] Office and General $151,420 48% Favourable variance primarily due ($140k) to timing of project invoicing to be realized during the remaining quarters. 
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Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position 
As at March 31, 2022 (Unaudited) 

 

 

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
Statement of Financial Position 
As at Mar 31, 2022

Mar 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2021* Variance $ Variance % Notes**
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash 8,891,911$              11,403,955$            (2,512,044)$              -22% [1]
Investments*** 8,131,112$              8,092,633$              38,480$                    0% NM
Prepaid expense 413,716$                  288,043$                  125,673$                  44% [2]

Total current assets 17,436,740$            19,784,631$            (2,347,891)$              -12%

Non current assets

Capital assets 527,085$                  538,222$                  (11,137)$                   -2% NM

Intangible assets 4,148$                      4,760$                      (612)$                         -13% NM
Total non current assets 531,233$                  542,982$                  (11,749)$                   -2%

TOTAL ASSETS 17,967,973$            20,327,613$            (2,359,640)$            -12%

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,678,071$              3,229,201$              551,130$                  17% [3]
Deferred registration and exam fees 8,517,775$              11,062,732$            2,544,958$               23% [4]

Total current liabilities 11,195,846$            14,291,934$            (3,096,088)$              -22%

Deferred lease inducements 63,627$                    66,976$                    3,349$                       5% NM

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,259,473$            14,358,910$            (3,099,437)$            -22%

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital and intangible assets 543,282$                  542,982$                  300$                          0% NM
Internally restricted for complaints and discipline 1,500,000$              1,500,000$              -$                               0% NM
Internally restricted for national initiatives 338,469$                  336,480$                  1,989$                       1% NM
Internally restricted for massage therapy research -$                          -$                          -$                               NM
Unrestricted 4,326,749$              3,589,241$              737,508$                  21% [5]

6,708,500$              5,968,703$              739,797$                 12%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 17,967,973$            20,327,613$            (2,359,640)$            -12%

*Preliminary actual results pending Year End close procedures.
**NM = not material
***Includes long-term investments with maturities > Mar 31, 2021. All investments are liquid and can be sold at any time. 
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Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position 
Variances vs. Prior Year - Q1 

 
 

 

 

Note Financial Statement Line Item
Variance 

$
Variance 

%
Explanation

[1] Cash ($2,512,044) -22%
Cash balance lower in March 2022 compared to December 2021 as three months expenses 
have been incurred after annual renewal In Q4 2021.

[2] Prepaid expense $125,673 44%
Increase in Prepaid due to software license and CMTCA dues added in Q1, the majority of 
large prepaids are calendar year based.

[3] Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $551,130 17%
Decrease due to timing of invoices received versus work completed as of March 31, 2022. 
Year end amounts have been paid with the exception of C&D accruals.

[4] Deferred registration and exam fees $2,544,958 23%
Decrease in March 2022 compared to December 2021 is recognition of Q1 revenue into 
earnings.  

[5] Unrestricted $737,508 21%
Surplus reflects delayed project invoicing, lower than expected salary costs and department 
costs.  All positive variances are expected to reverse as 2022 operations continue.  
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2022 – Q1 Workplan Report 

Project Description Outcomes Deliverables Completion 
Date 

Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4 Status 

Data Management 
Strategy 

ID of data/info required to inform 
risk and outcome based regulatory 
decision making. 

Development of foundational frameworks and 
structures including a CMTO-wide data governance 
framework, establishment of groups to begin 
implementation, policies/procedures and an access 
and reporting framework. 

Q4     Not yet started.  

Risk Based 
Assessment 

Only higher risk registrants will 
proceed to full assessment or 
review, resulting in a reduction in 
assessments and compliance 
matters over time.  

Development of risk factors/approach to identify 
higher-risk RMTs and revamp of existing program. 
Implementation of new risk-based assessment in 
2023. 

Q4     Program plan to be available for May Council. 
Content development and data analysis in 
progress. Piloting and testing to begin in 
summer. 

Jurisprudence 
Program 

Ensure new and existing registrants 
are aware of legislative and 
professional obligations and their 
importance. 

Program will be completed in 2023 and become a 
mandatory requirement for all new registrants in 
2024. 

Q4     Program plan to be available for May Council.                                                    
Development of content and resources continue. 

IT 
infrastructure/system 
enhancement 

ID of immediate and long-term tech 
needs to meet regulatory mandate. 

Risk Based Assessment Program Implementation 
Thentia database Phase 2 (Enhancements, 
compliance, eHealth interface) 
Phone system replacement 
Finance system replacement 

Q4 
 
 

    IT requirements for RBA being clarified to ensure 
accurate cost projections. 
Compliance and eHealth requirements in 
progress. 
Finance system update completed. 
Security awareness program scheduled for Q2. 
Phone system migration scheduled for Q4. 

General Regulation 
update 

Up-to-date set of regulations, 
assisting RMTs in understanding 
their obligations. 

Proposed amendments to the regulations will be 
presented to Council for approval and submitted to 
the Ministry. 

Q4 - 2023     Of the six parts of the General Regulation, two 
are near complete, two require minor 
“housekeeping” changes and CMTO has learned 
that two (advertising and records) will require 
Standards of Practice to be finalized prior to the 
regulations being rescinded. Work continues on 
all six parts but submission will be delayed to 
2023.  

Non-Council Public 
Members 

Reduced burden on existing and 
future LGIC appointees to ensure 

Transparent and robust processes for recruitment, 
selection, and ensuring competence of non-LGIC 

Q2     Appointments to be in place by July for QA, ICRC 
and Discipline. 
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sustainability of regulatory work 
over time, including sufficient public 
representation on all committees. 
 

public committee members.  
Recruitment of non-council public members and 
appointment to committees. 

Strategic Planning Council renews its vision for CMTO 
and identifies new strategic goals. 

A new Strategic Plan, including strategic initiatives, 
implementation action plan and KPIs. 

Q4     Proposed approach to be considered at April EC 
meeting. 

Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion 

Council increases its understanding 
of key DEI areas and considers 
potential initiatives for inclusion in 
next Strategic Plan. 

An education and discussion session will occur at 
each Council meeting in 2022. DEI areas of focus 
will include indigenous issues, anti-BIPOC racism 
and gender diversity. 

Q1-Q4     DEI session on bias at February 2022 Council  
meeting.  

Office Space Review Council makes an informed decision 
about future CMTO office space 

Proposed options relating to the CMTO office 
space, including maintaining or reducing the 
existing footprint in light of staff/committee 
activities and financial implications. 

Q3     Preliminary discussions have occurred. 

 

 

 
Legend 

Not Yet Started  
On-Track/Complete  
Rescoping Required  
Removed from the Workplan  



BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 

Date:  May 2, 2022 

From:  V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice 

Re: Update on the Risk-Based Assessment Program 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Issue: 

CMTO is introducing a Risk-Based Assessment (RBA) as part of STRiVE, the Quality Assurance 
Program. RBA is included on the 2022 Workplan and was discussed at the September 2021 
Council meeting. The Quality Assurance Committee has been meeting regularly to review the 
progress of RBA. Council is provided with an update on the RBA. 

RBA will be a more efficient mechanism for assessment.  It will involve a light-touch review of 
all registrants on an annual basis, and a more comprehensive Practice Assessment for 
registrants in high-risk categories who may require feedback and support.  

The goals of the RBA are to: 

• improve the efficiency of practice assessment through automation;
• include all registrants and support them in meeting minimum standards; and,
• reduce the number of registrants referred to the Quality Assurance Committee in the

longer term.

Public Interest: 

A risk-based approach to assessments allows CMTO to focus resources on assisting registrants 
in high-risk categories, helping the profession to deliver safe and effective care to clients.  

Background: 

As required under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA), CMTO must administer a 
Quality Assurance (QA) Program that:   

• promotes continuing competence and continuing quality improvement;
• promotes interprofessional collaboration;
• addresses changes in practice environments;

Agenda Item 8.2.1
For Information
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• incorporates Standards of Practice, advances in technology, changes made to entry to 
practice competencies and other relevant issues identified by the Quality Assurance 
Committee; 

• includes components for Self, Peer and Practice assessment; 
• includes a mechanism for monitoring participation and compliance. 

In 2019, CMTO launched STRiVE – the Quality Assurance Program. There are two parts of 
STRiVE:  

1) Supporting registrants ‘to be the best they can be’ (a developmental side) and  

2) to ‘comply with minimum standards’ (an assessment side).  

Expected to evolve over time, STRiVE requirements initially focused on the developmental side. 
In 2020, Dr. Susan Glover Takahashi was retained to develop a risk-based approach to 
assessments under the ‘compliance with minimum standards’ part of STRiVE.  

 
Overview of Risk-Based Assessment: 
 
A risk-based assessment approach is intended to focus resources on registrants in higher risk 
categories. CMTO’s model will use an ‘assessment for learning’ approach that includes: 
 

• providing registrants with timely feedback and detailed information on the assessment, 
and expectations for ‘success’ (e.g., which topics will be included in assessments; how to 
meet Standard of Practice outcomes; explanations on individual performance; resources 
for improvement); and   

• ensuring the registrant has multiple opportunities to demonstrate that they meet the 
Standards of Practice (e.g., Pre-Interview Assignment and follow up questions during 
interview session). 

The risk-based assessment is intended to be a remedial, supportive, educative approach to 
performance assessment.  This means that while a registrant will be expected to demonstrate 
that they meet the Standards of Practice, they will be supported in doing so.  

Each year, beginning in February, all registrants will be provided with up to three opportunities 
to demonstrate competence through completion of the following1:  
 
Practice Profile is a screening assessment, done online, that enables the registrant to 
demonstrate they meet the Standards of Practice and provide information on their risks and 
supports.  Results are scored online and provided shortly after submission.  

 
1 The RBA is still under development, so this information may change. 
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It is anticipated, based on the experience of other professions, that the vast majority of 
registrants (93-97%) will successfully complete the Practice Profile and not require a Practice 
Assessment. 

Practice Assessment is a qualitative assessment that includes a Pre-Interview Assignment (PIA) 
on the Standards of Practice and a brief, semi-structured virtual interview (45-60 minutes) with 
a trained Assessment Advisor. Concurrently documented and scored online, assessment results 
are released shortly after completion.  

It is anticipated, based on the experience of other professions, that the vast majority of 
registrants (95-97%) would successfully complete the Practice Assessment and no other follow 
up would be required.   

Selection for a Practice Assessment is based on a combination of demonstrated knowledge and 
individual risks and supports. A registrant may increase the probability of being selected for a 
Practice Assessment if a lapse in Professional Liability Insurance occurs or STRiVE requirements 
are submitted after the deadline.  

 
Practice Assessment 2 if concerns are identified during the Practice Assessment, registrants will 
have another opportunity to demonstrate competence by repeating the process with a 
different Assessment Advisor.  

Only those registrants that require additional support following a second attempt with the 
Practice Assessment will be referred to the Quality Assurance Committee for further review.  

Under the RBA, all registrants will be expected to complete a Practice Profile each year. This is 
expected to take approximately one hour to complete. Registrants will receive valuable 
feedback from the experience to improve their practice. 

For Consideration: 
 
RBA is an important regulatory modernization project which entails changes to: 

1. the number of registrants assessed;  
2. the volume of matters before the QA Committee; and 
3. the cost to develop and administer the assessment process.  

 
1. Changes to Number of Registrants in the Assessment Process 
 
Each year all registrants will be required to complete the Practice Profile which is a lighter 
version of an assessment. A more in-depth Practice Assessment will be reserved for registrants 
that demonstrate high risk behaviours and require additional support. Implementation of this 
new risk-based approach to assessments is a marked change from the previous assessment 
program which resulted in less than 10% of the total registrant base being assessed annually.   
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2. Volume of Matters Before QA Committee  
 
In the RBA model, registrants that require additional support following a second attempt with 
the Practice Assessment will be referred to the Quality Assurance Committee for further 
review.  

It is expected that over time, the number of registrants being required to participate in a 
Practice Assessment will decrease as familiarity with the overall process increases. As a result, 
the number of matters being considered by the Quality Assurance Committee would also 
decrease.    

The decision to escalate registrants in higher risk categories is also data-informed, not based on 
random selection.   

3.  Costs to Develop and Administer the Assessment Process 

Costs outlined below in Diagram 1 are based on averages to address fees incurred to conduct 
an assessment and provide the registrant with a final outcome. Note that these costs do not 
include compliance monitoring post Quality Assurance Panel or referrals to the Inquiries, 
Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC).  

 
Diagram 1  
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Projected Costs of New RBA  

Beyond development costs to integrate a risk-based approach to assessments within STRiVE, 
projected costs to administer assessments are not expected to exceed costs incurred in 
previous years and may be reduced over time as further efficiencies are identified.  

Diagram 2 sets out the anticipated costs and the number of registrants involved in each step, 
including legal review for high-risk matters. Diagram 3 shows both the number of registrants 
and the associated costs diminishing as reliance on Assessment Advisors to assess competence 
increases and fewer matters are considered by the Quality Assurance Committee.   

Diagram 2 
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Diagram 3 

 

Budget/Timelines 
 
The total cost to introduce the RBA process includes consulting fees, content development, IT 
infrastructure, data collection and analysis, meeting preparation and facilitation and 
consultation with registrant advisory group member recruited to support and provide input.  

2020/2021:  $165,000 (consultant services, content development)  

2022: $240,000 (IT platform, consultant services)  

Pilot testing for the Practice Assessment is scheduled to occur in Fall 2022 and the Practice 
Profile in December 2022. The RBA is expected to launch in 2023 with the introduction of the 
Practice Profile in February. 
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 
 
Date:  May 2, 2022 
 
From:  V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice 

B. Sumpton, Manager, Research 
 
Re: Update - New Jurisprudence Program  
 
Issue: 
Council is provided with an overview of the new Jurisprudence Program.   
 
Public Interest:   
Knowledge of jurisprudence supports the provision of safe and effective Massage Therapy 
care. 

Background: 
Council approved a new Jurisprudence Program as part of the 2020 Workplan. The new 
program will be more comprehensive, focusing on legislation/regulation, 
professionalism/ethics and the prevention of sexual abuse.  It will be delivered on-line and 
include an evaluative component.   

CMTO is required to have a Jurisprudence Program as part of the registration regulation. This 
regulation makes completion of a Jurisprudence Program a requirement for all applicants. 

Currently, jurisprudence requirements for applicants/registrants are met in the following ways: 

1. For applicants: 
a. By completing a recognized Massage Therapy education program in Ontario 

(applicants educated in Ontario) 
b. By completing the Jurisprudence Exam or the CMTO Standards and Regulations 

e-workshop (applicants educated outside Ontario) 
2. For Registrants: 

a. By completing the Standards and Regulations e-Workshop for registrants 
directed to complete jurisprudence by a committee. 
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b. By completing the refresher course (for registrants needing the course), which 
includes the Standards and Regulations e-Workshop. 

Program Structure 
The on-line Jurisprudence Program is designed to reinforce preexisting knowledge of 
jurisprudence, fill gaps in knowledge, and reemphasize areas of particular importance to 
protection of the public. 

It will consist of three parts: 
• Prevention of Sexual Abuse and Standards of Practice  
• Legislation and Regulations 
• Professionalism and Ethics  

 
The three parts can be completed in any order through independent study. The program 
will be structured to ensure parts are reviewed before an evaluative test can be completed. 
Completion of all three parts of the program should take approximately four to five hours 
including testing. 

Each part of the program will have a final test that must be passed for registration 
purposes.  Tests can be attempted again (as many times as needed), after reviewing the 
content. 

Program Delivery 
Registration:  The Registration Committee has approved, in principle, the requirement to 
complete the new Jurisprudence Program for all applicants’ initial registration.  The 
Registration Committee also supports requiring all applicants for registration to complete 
the Jurisprudence Program prior to registration as of January 2024. 
 
Refresher Course:  As a component of the refresher course, the new Jurisprudence Program 
will support registrants who need additional review or new knowledge due to inactivity as 
an RMT, and applicants who experience a delay in completing their exams, or when 
transferring from practice or education in another province.   
 
Continuing Education:  The program will be available to all registrants as continuing education. 
This allows any registrant to complete the new Jurisprudence Program to review and update 
their knowledge of jurisprudence or to fulfill a learning goal as part of STRiVE. 
The program will be evaluated on an annual basis to ensure effectiveness is monitored and 
content remains current. 
 
Budget/Timelines 
The Jurisprudence Program is expected to be completed by the end of 2022 within budget.  
2019/2020:  $46,000 (Code of Ethics module, registrant guide development, IT) 
2022: $48,000 (IT, registrant testing, legal review)  
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Costs 
The new Jurisprudence Program will be free to access for both applicants and registrants. 
The cost of development and maintenance of the program will be included in the Initial 
Registration/Renewal Fee. 

Next Steps: 
Communications about the Jurisprudence Program will begin in spring 2022.  
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 
 
DATE: April 25, 2022 
  
FROM: Maureen Boon, Registrar|CEO 
 
RE: Update on General Regulation (Workplan item) 

 
Issue:   
CMTO’s General Regulation (O. Reg. 544/94) is being reviewed and updated in consultation 
with the Ministry of Health (MOH). The Workplan deliverable is an updated regulation 
presented (in one piece) to MOH in Q3 2022. In reality, the General Regulation contains six 
distinct parts. While some parts are nearing completion, others cannot be completed by Q3 
2022, as explained below. As a result, the Workplan item in the May 2022 Council package has 
been updated to reflect the following information.  
 
Public Interest Statement: 
Regulations are a highly-enforceable form of guidance and used for higher-risk activities. 
Updated regulations protect the public by setting clear expectations for RMTs and allowing 
CMTO to hold RMTs accountable.  
 
Background: 
Ontario Reg. 544/94 (General Regulation), under the Massage Therapy Act, 1991, contains the 
following parts1: 

1. Examinations 
2. Advertising 
3. Records 
7. Notice of Meetings and Hearings 
8. Professional Misconduct 
9. Quality Assurance 

 
 

1 Parts 4-6 were revoked, so do not appear in this list. 
 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/940544
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Some parts of the General Regulation (Parts 8 and 9) are already progressing through the 
Ministry’s approval process, as outlined in the table below. CMTO staff are in regular 
communication with the MOH on the progress.  
 

Part of Regulation 
(Reg) 

Current Status Next Steps Projected Completion 
Timing (CMTO) 

1. Examinations Regulation is fine. Propose minor 
housekeeping change 

Align with parts 2 and 3. 
Q4 - 2023 

2. Advertising Dated regulation. Not high 
risk. Requires frequent 
review.  

Ask MOH to repeal. 
Create Standard of 
Practice. MOH would 
review the Standard 
first.  

Draft Standard to 
Council, MOH – Q1 2023 
Final Standard - Q3 2023 
Reg request – Q4 2023 

3. Records Dated regulation. Not high 
risk. Requires frequent 
review.  

Ask MOH to repeal. 
Create Standard of 
Practice. MOH would 
review the Standard 
first.  

Draft Standard to 
Council, MOH – Q1 2023 
Final Standard - Q3 2023 
Reg request – Q4 2023 

7. Notice of Meetings 
and Hearings 

Dated regulation.  Ask MOH to repeal.  Align with parts 2 and 3. 
Q4 - 2023 

8. Professional 
Misconduct 

High risk regulation. 
Currently with MOH. 45-
day public consultation 
period on Regulatory 
Registry is complete. 
Awaiting final approval. 

Final approval not likely 
to proceed prior to 
provincial election but 
anticipated shortly 
thereafter. Guide to 
new regulation almost 
ready to release. 

CMTO will release new 
Guide to Professional 
Misconduct Regulation 
as soon as new 
regulations are passed. 

9. Quality Assurance Updated regulation 
currently with MOH. Has 
not proceeded to 
government consultation. 

Continue working on 
this with MOH as a 
priority.  

CMTO will continue 
liaising with MOH to 
answer questions. 

 
As noted above, parts 2 and 3 (Advertising and Records) will need a more extensive process of 
developing new Standards of Practice before MOH is asked to repeal the regulations. Moving 
guidance from regulation to a Standard of Practice will allow CMTO to keep them more current  
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(particularly given the use of digital media). Other parts (Examinations and Notice of Hearings) 
do not impact RMTs or CMTO’s operations and can wait for parts 2 and 3 to proceed.  
 
For Consideration:  
CMTO’s current regulatory priority is discussion with MOH and the Ministry of Colleges and 
Universities about our Registration Regulation (O. Reg. 864/93), which will enable CMTO 
(through the Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation) to better protect Ontarians 
by ensuring quality Massage Therapy educational programs.  
 
Ontario’s Legislature will rise on May 4, 2022, resulting in a stoppage of legislative business and 
slow down of regulatory changes until after the election and scheduled summer recess.  
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Program communication and
engagement

practice inquiries from RMTs

Meeting statutory obligations

of complaint notices were
issued within 14 days95%

(Target 100%)

Public awareness/public 
engagement

49 Professional Conduct
inquiries88

Delivery of safe, effective,
ethical care

RMTs participated in peer
assessment

(will resume in Q3)

0

Program communication 
and engagement

of RMTs successfully
completed their 2021
STRiVE requirements

99.9%

Reasonableness of College decisions

of decisions upheld by HPARB100%
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Public awareness

Public engagement

Public information
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users to the
CMTO website

68,409

Meeting statutory obligations

of complaints closed within 150
days or notice of delay issued 100%

(Target 100%)

Key Performance Indicators 2022 Q1
STRATEGIC GOAL STRATEGIC GOALSTRATEGIC GOAL

Transparency Regulatory ModernizationQuality

Additional Monitoring

contested hearings in Q114%

Contested hearings

Collaboration with system partners

Registration for 2022

RMTs GC to IN55
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vs. 38 in Q1 2021

New RMTs222
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RMTs IN to GC135

Employee attritionSecurity incidents

incidents identified

0 N/A
*semi-annual

Meeting statutory obligations

of complaints were
acknowledged within 14 days
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ICRC decisions2 of 2

joint investigation with another college1
collaborations with police agencies2

Meetings with partners included CMTCA, MCU, MOH,
HPRO, and Prometric

39 practice inquiries
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from the public
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Not tracked during Q1
due to website
change
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Committee Mandate: 

The Discipline Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of 
professional misconduct or incompetence against registrants. 

DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

2022 – Q1 (January - March)  

Committee Members: Lesley Hargreaves, RMT, Chair 
Sean Adderley, RMT  
Suja Biber, RMT 
Allie Bisset, RMT, non-Council Member 
Anna Cantalini, RMT  
Cora Di Pietro, RMT, non-Council Member (until February 7, 2022) 
Bobbie Flint, RMT, non-Council Member 
Marlene Kesler, Public Member  
Sarah Kingsbury, RMT, non-Council Member 
Christin Mandalentsis, RMT (as of February 8, 2022) 
Cindy McNaughton, RMT, non-Council Member 
Jim Marinow, RMT, non-Council Member 
Sohail Mall, Public Member  
Jay Mathers, Public Member 
Amy McElroy, RMT, non-Council Member (as of February 8, 2022)  
Dawn Oehring, RMT 
Jalpa Patel, Public Member  
Lisa Tucker, RMT (until February 7, 2022) 
Ravara Van Vliet, RMT  
Ian Vining, RMT 
Carolyn Watt, Public Member  
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT  
Lloyd White, Public Member 
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES 
 
1. MEETING DATES 

The Discipline Committee held its annual orientation on March 10, 2022.  

2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

Table 2.1.1    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 2.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
1 Motion hearings are being distinguished from liability and penalty hearings since they are often shorter proceedings 
requiring fewer resources and less time to dispose of.  
2 The liability phase of a discipline hearing involves a panel of the Discipline Committee deciding whether the 
allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence against a registrant have been proven. If the panel decides 
that the College has proven the allegations, it makes a finding of professional misconduct or incompetence. 
3 Following a panel’s findings of professional misconduct or incompetence, the hearing proceeds to the penalty 
phase where the panel may make one or a combination of the following orders: suspend or revoke a registrant’s 
certificate of registration; impose specific terms, conditions and limitations; and/or require the registrant to appear 
before the panel for a reprimand. In appropriate cases, the panel may order a registrant to pay all or part of the 
College’s legal costs and expenses. While costs are not part of the penalty, costs awards are considered at the penalty 
phase of the hearing. 

Hearings Data 
Total hearings  
completed in the quarter  

7 

Total motions1 
completed in the quarter  

9 

Pre-hearing conferences  
completed in the quarter 

3 

 
Type of Hearing 

Hearings 
Completed  
in the Quarter 

Contested liability only2  1 
Contested penalty3 and/or costs only - 
Uncontested penalty and costs 1 
Fully contested liability and penalty  - 
Fully uncontested liability and penalty 5 
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2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION (CONT’D) 

Due to ongoing COVID-19-related concerns, the Discipline Committee held all its hearings 
virtually (motions proceeding exclusively over the phone).  

The respective number of hearings, motions and pre-hearing conferences was nearly identical to 
Q4 2021 figures. However, the nature of hearings in this reporting period was different in that 
only 14 percent of them were contested, as compared to 50 percent in Q4 2021.  

As most of the hearings and motions heard in the quarter were uncontested, panels and motion 
chairs completed deliberations and issued decisions and reasons in 14 of the 16 cases. The 
remaining decision released in this quarter related to a matter heard in 2021, bringing the total 
number of decisions released to 15.  

Decision Release Data 

The Discipline Committee released 15 decisions and reasons.  

1. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Andrejic, 2022 ONCMTO 1 
2. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Wallace, 2022 ONCMTO 2 
3. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Namaghi, 2022 ONCMTO 3 
4. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Salter, 2022 ONCMTO 4 
5. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Murray, 2022 ONCMTO 5 
6. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Addley, 2022 ONCMTO 6 
7. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Demore, 2022 ONCMTO 7 
8. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Cumberbatch, 2022 ONCMTO 8 
9. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Jing, 2022 ONCMTO 9 
10. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Patel, 2022 ONCMTO 10 
11. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Tsatsaklas, 2022 ONCMTO 11 
12. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Xie, 2022 ONCMTO 12 
13. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Reid, 2022 ONCMTO 13 
14. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Musson, 2022 ONCMTO 14 
15. Unreported decision4 

Summaries of the decisions are available on the College’s website and full-text versions of the 
decisions are reported on the Canadian Legal Information Institute (CanLII) website.  

2.3 Quarterly Summary of Discipline Committee Activities   

The table below provides information on activities related to pre-hearing conferences, motions, 
discipline hearings (liability and/or penalty and costs phase), and release dates of written reasons 
for decisions: 

 
 

4 Unreported decisions will be published on CanLII after 90 days have passed from the date the Discipline Committee 
issued its order in the matter. Typically, these decisions involve orders on preliminary issues or matters in which no 
findings were made or in which all allegations of professional misconduct were withdrawn. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto1/2022oncmto1.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto2/2022oncmto2.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto3/2022oncmto3.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto4/2022oncmto4.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto5/2022oncmto5.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto6/2022oncmto6.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto7/2022oncmto7.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto8/2022oncmto8.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022canlii25734/2022canlii25734.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto10/2022oncmto10.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto11/2022oncmto11.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto12/2022oncmto12.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto13/2022oncmto13.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/doc/2022/2022oncmto14/2022oncmto14.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/oncmto/
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 Registrant 
 

Date(s) of Activity  
in the Quarter 

Type of Activity Status 
 

1.  Registrant X January 11 Pre-hearing conference Hearing scheduled  
2.  Registrant H January 14 Pre-hearing conference Hearing scheduled 

3.  
YJ January 14;  

February 17; March 
23 

Pre-hearing conference;  
Liability and penalty hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Completed/closed 

4.  GAC January 18;  
March 7 

Liability and penalty hearing; 
Reasons for decision released 

Two matters 
completed/closed  

5.  Registrant X January 18; 
January 26 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Completed/closed 

6.  NA January 21 Reasons for decision released Penalty hearing 
scheduled  

7.  BM January 28; 
February 28 

Liability and penalty hearing; 
Reasons for decision released 

Completed/closed 

8.  
SW January 28;  

February 1 
Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Three matters 
indefinitely 
adjourned/closed  

9.  AAN January 28;  
February 1 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

10.  JS January 28; 
February 1 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed  

11.  JD February 4;  
March 4 

Liability and penalty hearing; 
Reasons for decision released 

Completed/closed  

12.  JA February 18; 
March 3 

Penalty hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Completed/closed  

13.  Registrant W February 23-25, 28 Liability hearing Decision pending  

14.  
EM March 7;  

March 30 
Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Two matters 
indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

15.  SR March 7;  
March 30 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

16.  VP March 11;  
March 25 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

17.  WX March 11;  
March 25 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

18.  TT March 11;  
March 25 

Motion hearing;  
Reasons for decision released 

Indefinitely 
adjourned/closed 

19.  CPW March 11 Liability and penalty hearing Reasons for decision 
pending  

 
3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION  

There were no items sent to Council for decision.  
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 
 
Date: April 29, 2022  
 
From:   L. White, Chair, Client Relations Committee 
 
Re: 2022-2023 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan (SAPP) 

 
 
Issue: 
 
Council is provided with the 2022-2023 SAPP, containing organizational initiatives to prevent 
and address the sexual abuse of clients by Registered Massage Therapists (RMTs/MTs). 
 
Public Interest Statement: 
 
CMTO has a strong commitment to preventing and addressing the sexual abuse of clients by 
RMTs. The SAPP provides the public with information on how CMTO works toward a zero-
tolerance approach to sexual abuse. 
 
Background: 
 
One of CMTO’s legislated responsibilities is to have a SAPP that details measures for preventing 
and dealing with sexual abuse of clients through:  
 

• educational requirements for registrants;  
• guidelines for the conduct of registrants with their clients;  
• training for CMTO staff; and  
• the provision of information to the public.  

 
The plan is approved annually by the Client Relations Committee (CRC). It is shared with Council 
for information and then posted to CMTO’s website. As part of its duties, CRC evaluates the 
results of the previous year’s plan. 
 

https://www.cmto.com/imis_eseries/source/Members/publicregister_display.cfm?ID=27938#innerMain
https://www.cmto.com/index.html
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CRC approved the 2022-2023 SAPP on April 4, 2022. The SAPP was streamlined to focus on 
planned activities and introduces the need for new tools (e.g., jurisprudence, accreditation) to 
help reduce sexual abuse. Specific projects are found in a summary table on page 7 of the SAPP. 
 
Next Steps: 
 
Staff will post the 2022-2023 SAPP to the website and review the plan’s effectiveness with CRC 
in early 2023. 
 
Attachment 1: 2022-2023 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan  
 
 



Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan

2022-23

Agenda Item 10.1
Attachment 1



 
 
  

1 
 

2022-23 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan 

Introduction 

The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO) is committed to preventing and 
addressing the sexual abuse of clients by Registered Massage Therapists (RMTs/MTs or 
registrants). CMTO takes this responsibility seriously and has adopted several initiatives to 
support a zero tolerance approach to sexual abuse.  

The number of sexual abuse complaints received by CMTO is increasing. This may be influenced 
by society’s expectations about touch and that Massage Therapy is a treatment based on touch 
and often practised in a private, closed space. A comprehensive and effective Sexual Abuse 
Prevention Plan is important to protecting the public and promoting professional and ethical 
Massage Therapy treatment. CMTO is also promoting the passage of new regulations that will 
help ensure high quality Massage Therapy education.  

The Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan is reviewed and updated annually by the Client Relations 
Committee (CRC), which reports to CMTO’s Council. Each year’s plan is reviewed and informed 
by an evaluation of the previous year’s results and environmental changes.  

CMTO’s Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan complies with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 
1991 (RHPA). The purpose of this Plan is to outline CMTO’s activities to prevent sexual abuse 
through the following initiatives: 

1) Education for Massage Therapy Students   
2) Registrant Education 
3) Training for College Administration 
4) Funding for Therapy and Counselling  
5) Provision of Information to the Public 
6) Evaluation of the Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan 

Each initiative is described below and a summary table of deliverables planned for 2022-23 is 
available in Attachment A. 

 

 

 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/91r18
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/91r18
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1) Education for Massage Therapy Students  

Learning about sexual abuse, and the obligations of regulated health professionals to prevent 
and report it begins long before individuals become 
registered with CMTO. 

With this in mind, accreditation is key to CMTO’s 
strategy to improve and ensure high quality Massage 
Therapy education. Ensuring that educational 
programs graduate qualified individuals is important 
to protecting the public. The variation in educational 
programs and the intimate/touch-based nature of 
Massage Therapy makes the need for accreditation 
more acute. CMTO requires applicants to complete an 
entry-to-practice exam to help prepare them for 
professional practice and ethical conduct, but 
accreditation is needed to ensure high quality 
education is in place. To enhance registrant 
knowledge, CMTO is also launching a jurisprudence 
program (to be in place in 2023).  

 

2) Registrant Education 
 
CMTO guides RMTs on sexual abuse prevention and 
reporting requirements through College policies, 
guidelines and Standards of Practice. These documents are publicly available on CMTO’s 
website. An overview of CMTO’s commitment to zero tolerance for any form of abuse, and its 
sexual abuse prevention policies and obligations are highlighted in TouchPoint. CMTO publishes 
the number of complaints and reports of sexual abuse received each year in the College 
Performance Measurement Framework and publishes all discipline hearing summaries on 
CMTO’s website. Full versions of discipline decisions and reasons from January 1st, 2016, 
onward are published on the Canadian Legal Information Institute (CanLII) website to provide 
information for the public and other stakeholders.  

Educating Massage Therapy Students on 
Sexual Abuse 

2016:  Released Inter-jurisdictional Practice 
Competencies and Performance Indicators for 
Massage Therapists at Entry-to-Practice with 
other Provincial regulators. This tool for 
educators includes concepts related to 
preventing sexual abuse. 

2017:  CMTO’s Council approved standards for 
the Canadian Massage Therapy Council for 
Accreditation, including specific provisions to 
eradicate sexual abuse.  

2021:  Updated Standards of Practice on 1) 
Professional Boundaries and 2) Preventing 
Sexual Abuse. The Standards address 
professional communication, boundaries, use of 
recording devices, and the treatment of 
sensitive areas such as the gluteal region, inner 
thighs, chest and breasts.  

 

 

 

https://www.cmto.com/touchpoints/
https://www.cmto.com/concerns-complaints/hearings/discipline-decisions/
https://www.canlii.org/en/
https://www.fomtrac.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/FOMTRAC-PCs-PIs-September-2016.pdf
https://www.fomtrac.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/FOMTRAC-PCs-PIs-September-2016.pdf
https://www.fomtrac.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/FOMTRAC-PCs-PIs-September-2016.pdf
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Information on professional boundaries, the definition of sexual abuse, and prevention of 
sexual abuse are also included in the interactive CMTO e-Workshops that are held throughout 
the year.  

In 2019, CMTO launched STRiVE, the new Quality Assurance (QA) Program. As part of the 
redesign of CMTO’s QA Program, 15 Career-Span Competencies were identified for the 
profession. Several of the Career-Span Competencies (e.g., acting with professional integrity; 
functioning in a client-centered manner) are linked to sexual abuse prevention. One of the 
Career Span Competencies is to “Apply the Principles of Sensitive Practice”.  
 
CMTO also refreshed its Code of Ethics in 2019. The Code of Ethics and accompanying Glossary 
of Terms are resources to support RMTs in understanding and applying the ethical principles 
and values which are foundational to the practice of the profession. The Code of Ethics is the 
foundation for the STRiVE e-Learning Module: Professionalism and Ethics which was completed 
by the majority of RMTs in 2021. 

Proposed changes to the Professional 
Misconduct Regulation were also 
approved by CMTO’s Council in 2019 
and submitted to the Ministry of 
Health in 2020. One of the proposed 
amendments will make failing to take 
reasonable steps to prevent sexual 
abuse of a client or sexual misconduct 
toward a client by any person working 
under a registrant’s direction or 
supervision, an act of professional 
misconduct. CMTO will also develop a 
guide to the Professional Misconduct 
Regulation to assist RMTs (and the 
public) in understanding the 
provisions.  
 
In 2020, CMTO updated its Standards of Practice. The new Standards include Prevention of 
Sexual Abuse, Professional Boundaries, and Draping and Physical Privacy. The Standards were 
consulted on broadly and feedback was provided by RMTs, the public and other stakeholders. 

Educating the Profession about Sexual Abuse 

2017: Written Consent for Treating Sensitive 
Areas. The College made its recommended 
written consent process for treating sensitive 
areas a mandatory requirement in 2017. The 
requirement for written consent may prevent 
some cases of abuse, and where it cannot 
prevent abuse, it may make it easier to prove 
that sexual abuse occurred.  

2019: RMTs are asked to declare at renewal that 
they understand their responsibilities as 
regulated health professionals for reporting and 
preventing sexual abuse. This declaration is now 
required annually.  
 

https://www.cmto.com/rmts/quality-assurance-program/strive/
https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Code-of-Ethics-FINAL-Feb-2022.pdf
https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Code-of-Ethics-Glossary-of-Terms-FINAL-Revised-Feb-2022.pdf
https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Code-of-Ethics-Glossary-of-Terms-FINAL-Revised-Feb-2022.pdf
https://www.cmto.com/rules/standard-of-practice-prevention-of-sexual-abuse/
https://www.cmto.com/rules/standard-of-practice-prevention-of-sexual-abuse/
https://www.cmto.com/rules/standard-of-practice-professional-boundaries/
https://www.cmto.com/rules/standard-of-practice-draping-and-physical-privacy/
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The Standard of Practice: Draping and Physical Privacy was developed with feedback from the 
Citizen Advisory Group.   
 
In 2023, an online jurisprudence program will be introduced and will cover a variety of topics 
(i.e., Legislation and Regulations, Standards of Practice, Prevention of Sexual Abuse, and 
Professionalism and Ethics). 
 
3) Training for College Administration 

All CMTO staff and Council/Committee Members receive annual training about liaising with the 
public about sexual abuse complaints, and some staff receive annual training from experts in 
sexual abuse prevention and counselling. This training ensures that those involved with 
complaints or reports about sexual abuse have detailed knowledge of CMTO’s responsibilities. 
The training provides an understanding of the impact of sexual abuse on individuals, families 
and society, and helps staff assist individuals who have been abused in a sensitive manner. 
CMTO staff who are involved in investigations also received trauma-informed investigation 
training.  
 
4) Funding for Therapy and Counselling  

Under the RHPA, all health regulatory colleges must establish programs to provide funding for 
therapy and counselling for patients/clients who have alleged being sexually abused by an RMT. 
CMTO’s Client Relations Committee is responsible for overseeing this process, determining 
eligibility and administering the fund. 
 
In 2018, CMTO’s Council updated its Funding for Therapy and Counselling Program by passing a 
new policy that broadened the College’s ability to provide funding to patients/clients who have 
been sexually abused by an RMT.  
 

https://www.cmto.com/rmt-clients/funding-for-therapy-and-counselling/
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New provincial regulations were also enacted in 2018 that broaden clients’ access to funding 
for therapy and counselling where an allegation of sexual abuse has been made. As a result of 
the policy/regulatory change, CMTO has experienced a sharp increase in the number of 
applications received for the Funding for Therapy and Counselling Program.  

 
5) Provision of Information to the Public  

CMTO updated and re-launched its website in 2022. CMTO’s website provides client-centered 
information developed with the assistance of clients/patients. The new website includes 
information regarding sexual abuse prevention, an outline of the complaints process, funding 
for therapy and counselling information and application, and contact information for the 
dedicated staff members responsible for responding to any questions or concerns. An annual 

Important Changes to CMTO’s Complaints and Discipline Process  
 
To support sexual abuse complainants, CMTO has: 
 

• Designated a specific staff resource with expertise on abuse for each complaint at the 
point of intake regarding sexual abuse.  

 
• Increased Support for Witnesses – CMTO may cover the expenses for a support person 

for vulnerable witnesses that are testifying during a Discipline Committee hearing. In 
addition, the Discipline Committee Rules allow for a support person to be present and 
to sit near a witness while testifying. A Discipline Panel may allow a vulnerable witness 
to provide their testimony without seeing or being seen by the registrant if the 
Discipline Panel is of the opinion that this is necessary to obtain a full and candid 
account.   

  
• Provided for the appointment of amicus counsel for sexual abuse matters in which the 

registrant is self-represented, so a witness is not cross-examined by their alleged 
perpetrator. Where a witness is vulnerable, and a registrant is not represented, the 
College will apply to have a representative appointed to conduct the cross-examination. 

 

https://www.cmto.com/concerns-complaints/file-a-complaint/
https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Discipline-Committee-Rules.pdf
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“Look Before You Book” campaign also helps ensure that the public is aware of CMTO’s public 
register (or “Find an RMT”).  
 
The College also re-launched its public register in 2021. The public register clearly shows 
whether an RMT is authorized to practice and provides alerts about an RMT, including 
restrictions, investigations, and disciplinary matters.     
 
CMTO also produces articles and videos on topics such as: 

• What to expect when visiting a Massage Therapist; 
• Professional boundaries; and  
• Look Before You Book. 

 
CMTO’s PDF document (that can be printed and posted in RMTs’ practices) can be used to 
inform clients that Massage Therapy Standards of Practice are the same across all practice 
settings, that clients have specific rights and that CMTO is here to help with any concerns they 
might have. 
 
6)  Evaluation of Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan 
 
Each year, CMTO evaluates the progress made in implementing the Sexual Abuse Prevention 
Plan and discusses how to improve its effectiveness going forward.  

CMTO’s Council will continue to receive updates from the CRC, and CMTO will monitor the 
effectiveness of the measures and policies outlined above, and will discuss longer-term goals as 
part of its commitment to zero tolerance of sexual abuse.   

  

http://www.cmto.com/lookbeforeyoubook/
https://cmto.ca.thentiacloud.net/webs/cmto/register/
https://cmto.ca.thentiacloud.net/webs/cmto/register/
https://youtu.be/P5oBZe2GlRc
https://youtu.be/Wzew4aIKAKY
https://youtu.be/4MdT7wsoV3Y
https://www.cmto.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/CMTO_Poster2018_11x17x1a.pdf
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  Attachment A:  Initiatives Planned for 2022-23 

Initiative Initiative Type Completion 
Date 

Lead Department 

An online jurisprudence program 
will be developed and launched. 
 
The program will be shared with 
Massage Therapy educational 
programs. 

Applicant and 
Registrant 
Education 
 
Massage 
Therapy 
Student 
Education 

2023 Professional Practice 

During renewal, RMTs will 
declare that they understand 
their responsibilities as 
regulated health professionals 
for reporting and preventing 
sexual abuse.  

Registrant 
Education 

Ongoing 
(annually) 

Registration Services 

Undertake annual training for 
College administration. 

Training for 
College 
Administration 

Ongoing 
(annually) 

Policy and 
Communications / 
Professional Conduct  

Undertake annual training for 
Committees involved with sexual 
abuse matters (i.e., ICRC and 
Discipline). 

Training for 
College 
Administration 

Ongoing 
(annually) 

Professional Conduct 

Digital campaign aimed at the 
public, on topics such as Look 
Before You Book and new 
Website content.  

Provision of 
Information to 
the Public 

Ongoing Policy and 
Communications 

Monitor and evaluate CMTO’s 
Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan 
annually and discuss the goals of 
the Plan for the subsequent 
year. 

Evaluation of 
Sexual Abuse 
Prevention 
Plan 

Ongoing Client Relations 
Committee 
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL 
 
Date: May 2, 2022 
 
From:    M. Boon, Registrar|CEO 
 
Re: Organizational Risk Register 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Issue:   
 
Council is asked to review the quarterly list of the key risks identified for action, so that it is 
both aware of and reassured by the mitigation strategies in place.  
 
Public Interest:   
 
This matter serves the public interest by ensuring the CMTO identifies and manages risks 
that may impact its ability to fulfil its regulatory functions. 
 
Background: 
 
At its April 2022 meeting, the Executive Committee reviewed the 2022 – Q1 Organizational Risk 
Register. 
 
Current Status: 
   
The Organizational Risk Register has been updated to include the current risk areas 
identified for action.   
 
1. Public members 
2. Council member workload 
3. Oversight of educational programs and Registration regulation  
4. Quality Assurance regulation delay 
5. Registrant dissatisfaction 
6. Sexual abuse funding obligations increase 
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7. Cost of regulation exceeds profession’s ability to pay 
8. Inflation (NEW) 
9. Staff retention 
 
All of these risks are both likely and high impact, which is a change from the last quarter.  
This is due to a number of issues/developments: 
 
• Election:  The upcoming election is having an impact on the timing of regulations and 

the appointment of public members. 
• Inflation:  Recent projections have estimated inflation at ~5%, significantly higher than 

previous years.   
• Staff retention:  Related to post-COVID employee movement, economic factors and 

inflation. 
 
One risk not identified for action now, but which will require close monitoring after the 
election, is the potential for government to introduce legislation increasing the oversight of 
health regulatory colleges or moving specific colleges from the RHPA to the Oversight 
Authority.   

 
Question for Council: 
 
Does Council have feedback on the 2022 – Q1 Organizational Risk Register?   
 
 
Attachment 1:  Organizational Risk Register 
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ORGANIZATIONAL RISK REGISTER – APRIL 2022  
 

Area Risks Description Likeli
hood 

Impact Action/
No 
Action 

Action or Mitigation Status 

Governance and 
Oversight 

1. Public members  Insufficient appointments, public member 
unavailability and conflicts create risk. 
 
CMTO is currently at the minimum level 
of public members. If the election delays 
appointments/reappointments OR there 
are any other departures, CMTO will not 
be constituted. 

5 5 A Time requirements for public 
members clarified with Public 
Appointments. 
 
Recruitment for non-council 
public members will begin in Q2. 
While this might help with DC, it 
will not help until July and will 
not help overall. 

Letter to Public Appointments 
on Mar 31/22 to request timely 
reappointment and additional 
public members.  Additional 
communication may be 
required. 
 

2. Council member 
workload 

Both public and professional members 
have concerns about workload and 
compensation. This has a potential 
impact on recruitment, retention and 
succession planning.  

5 5 A Time requirements have been 
clarified with the Public 
Appointments office. Some 
evening meetings have been 
scheduled. 

No change 

Government and 
Other External 
Influences 

3. Oversight of educational 
programs and registration 
regulation 
 
 

MCU continues to perform the regulatory 
function of approving the education 
required for registration, and CMTO is 
obliged to accept all graduates without 
the quality assurance accreditation 
provides. 
 
Resulting and continued pressure on 
CMTO’s QA, professional conduct and 
compliance programs.  

5 5 A Continued discussions with 
Ministry. 

Meetings with MOH and MCU 
continue. Status of regulation 
unclear. 
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Area Risks Description Likeli
hood 

Impact Action/
No 
Action 

Action or Mitigation Status 

4. Quality Assurance 
regulation delay1  

New QA regulation will enable us to move 
ahead more easily with the Risk Based 
Assessments. Without it, workarounds 
compromise the efficiency of committees 
and operations, particularly re STRiVE 
noncompliance.  

5 5 A Continued communication with 
Ministry re importance of 
regulation. 

No regulations anticipated to 
move forward prior to election. 

Communications & 
Stakeholder 
Engagement 

5. Registrant dissatisfaction New requirements, like risk-based 
assessments, in combination with a 
potential fee increase, are likely to result 
in registrant dissatisfaction. 

5 5 A Continued focus on respectful 
and supportive communication 
re the value of key programs to 
both the public and the 
registrant. 

Communication strategy in 
development. 

Financial 
Management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6. Sexual Abuse funding 
obligations increase 

Funding applications have risen (from 2 in 
2017 to 20 in 2020) as sexual abuse 
matters have increased. 
 

5 3 A Cost projections to be 
developed.  
 

CRC will consider possible 
program revisions and make 
recommendations to Council. 

7. Cost of regulation 
exceeds profession’s ability 
to pay  

Fee increase required to complete key 
projects and maintain/support/evolve 
core regulatory programs exceeds 
profession’s ability to pay, compromising 
organizational sustainability.  

5 5 A Fee increase and deficit 
reduction proposal to be 
considered at May Council.  
 

RBA and jurisprudence project 
information will be provided to 
May Council. 

8. Inflation (NEW) Inflation estimates of ~5% are much 
higher than predicted and impossible to 
absorb into a deficit budget. 

5 5 A Fee increase and deficit 
reduction proposal to be 
considered at May Council.  
 

To be considered at May 
Council. 

Human 
Resources 

9. Staff retention Increased staff turnover expected across 
multiple sectors post-COVID. 
 
 

5 5 A Remote First strategy, salary 
administration review and 
culture focus.  

No change 

 
1 Revised regulation submitted in 2017/8 and resubmitted in 2019. 
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	All of the Executive Committee supported the application, inactive and 2023 fee increases.  The majority of the Executive Committee also supported the 2024 and 2025 fee increases.  There was discussion about the amount of the 2024 and 2025 fee increas...
	By-law No. 7 Revisions
	Should Council approve the proposed fees, By-law No. 7 will require revision.  The proposed revision is as follows:
	Given that the proposed fee increases are more than inflation, circulation of the by-law will be required between May and September Council.  The fee for 2023 needs to be approved at September Council, prior to the 2023 annual renewal process.
	By-Law No. 7, Schedule A:  Miscellaneous Fee Schedule
	As part of the overall review of fees, staff will reviewing the miscellaneous fee schedule.  The miscellaneous fees are primarily administrative in nature and will be reviewed to determine when they were last raised and whether they sufficiently cover...
	Under section 18 of the by-law, the Registrar sets the miscellaneous fees, maintains the schedule of fees and advises Council of both the schedule and any changes made to it.
	Accordingly, any changes to the miscellaneous fee schedule will be brought to September Council for information.
	MOTIONS:
	Attachments:
	Attachment 1: By-Law No. 7 – Fees – Proposed Revisions
	Attachment 2: By-Law No. 7 – Schedule A

	7.2 BN - Proposed By-law Amendment - Deputy Registrar
	7.3 BN - Proposed By-law Amendment - Deputy Registrar
	BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
	Issue:
	To ensure flexibility and succession planning, Council is being asked to consider revisions to By-Law No. 9 “The Registrar”, s3. Deputy Registrar.
	Draft MOTION:

	7.3.1 By-Law No. 9 The Registrar
	College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
	By-Law No. 9
	The Registrar
	Interpretation
	1. Consistency with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA, 1991) and the Massage Therapy Act, 1991
	All provisions of these and all by-laws of the College shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the RHPA, 1991 and the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 and where any inconsistency is found to exist, the inconsistent provision shall, where practical, ...
	Definitions
	1. In this by-law, unless otherwise defined or required by the context,
	(A) "By-laws" means all by-laws of the College;
	(B) "College" means the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO);
	(C) "Registrar" means the Registrar and Chief Executive Officer of the College, or in the case of the absence or inability of the Registrar, the Deputy Registrar of the College and/or includes a person appointed as Interim Registrar by the Council;
	(D) "Resolution" means a vote of a majority of those Council members in attendance at the meeting and voting on the resolution, where a quorum is present;
	(E) "RHPA" means the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, including its associated regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code, which is Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.
	Any term not defined in this By-Law shall have the meaning provided to it in the RHPA, 1991 or the Massage Therapy Act, 1991.
	Registrar
	2. (A) The Registrar holds the most senior position on the College's staff and is the Chief  Executive Officer of the College.
	(B) The Registrar is directly accountable to Council and, between Council meetings, to the Executive Committee.
	(C) The Registrar's duties include:
	i. Overseeing the operations of and management of the College in accordance with the established governance policies as approved by Council;
	ii. Ensuring compliance with statutory obligations;
	iii. The Registrar may set a fee, and require a person to pay the fee, for anything that the Registrar or a committee is required or authorized to do by law or the by-laws, for which no fee has been set by Council; and
	iv. Any other duty determined by Council.
	Deputy Registrar
	3.  The Deputy Registrar of the College shall be the Acting Registrar and have all of the powers and authorities of the Registrar should the Registrar be unable to act due to absence from the College or being unavailable or the position of the Registr...
	Acting Registrar
	4. The Council or the Executive Committee may appoint an Acting Registrar if the Registrar is unable to act due to absence or is unavailable or if the position of Registrar becomes vacant. When so appointed, that person shall have all the powers and a...
	Administration
	5.4. This By-Law shall be administered by the Council of the College.
	Effective Date
	6. This By-Law comes into force on the day enacted.
	Enacted November 19, 1999
	Amended May 2014
	Amended May 2022


	7.3 BN - Strategic Planning
	7.4 BN - Strategic Planning
	7.4.1 Terms of Reference - Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee
	Terms of Reference
	Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee
	1. Statement of Purpose
	2. Accountability and Authority
	3. Size and Composition
	Approved:  May 9, 2022


	7.4 BN - DEI
	7.5 BN - DEI
	BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
	Issue:  Council has indicated that it would like to prioritize diversity, equity and inclusion.  Council is provided with an overview of existing DEI initiatives, at CMTO and elsewhere, and asked to establish an ad hoc DEI Committee.
	Current DEI Initiatives:

	7.5.2 Terms of Reference - Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee
	Terms of Reference
	Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI) Ad Hoc Committee
	1. Statement of Purpose
	2. Accountability and Authority
	3. Size and Composition
	Approved:  May 9, 2022

	7.5.1 HPRO Anti-BIPOC Racism WG - Summary Report - Sep 2021

	8.1 BN - 2022 - Q1 Financial Report Final-CE1
	8.2 2022 - Q1 Workplan Report
	8.2.1 Risk-based Assessments - Costs and Benefits - FINAL
	8.2.2 BN - Jurisprudence Program Update -FINAL
	Costs

	8.2.3 BN - General Regulation Update
	BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
	CMTO’s General Regulation (O. Reg. 544/94) is being reviewed and updated in consultation with the Ministry of Health (MOH). The Workplan deliverable is an updated regulation presented (in one piece) to MOH in Q3 2022. In reality, the General Regulatio...
	Public Interest Statement:
	Regulations are a highly-enforceable form of guidance and used for higher-risk activities. Updated regulations protect the public by setting clear expectations for RMTs and allowing CMTO to hold RMTs accountable.
	Background:

	8.3 2022 - Q1 Key Performance Indicators
	8.4 2022 - Q1 Discipline Committee Report
	10.1 BN - 2022 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
	10.1 BN - 2022 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
	10.1.1 2022-23-Sexual-Abuse-Prevention-Plan

	10.2 BN - Organizational Risk Register
	10.2 BN - Organizational Risk Register
	10.2.1 2022 - Q1 Organizational Risk Register amended


	7.1 BN - Annual Fee Review 2023.pdf
	7.1 BN - Annual Fee Review 2023
	BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
	Issue: Council is asked to consider the following proposed 2023 Fee increases:
	1. Increase to application fee from $100 to $225
	2. Increase to Inactive fee from $200 to 50% of the General Certificate (GC) fee
	3. Increase to GC fee by $100 in 2023, $75 in 2024 and $75 in 2025.
	Background:
	Current Situation:
	Potential Impact
	Fee Increase Offset
	Impact
	Pressure
	$54
	$730,000
	Deficit
	$48
	5% on total projected expenses for 2022 of $12,848,487
	Inflation
	$22
	$300,000 per year
	Staff Growth
	$124
	TOTAL
	Context:
	Approach:
	After analyzing the current situation, the proposed fee increases are based on the following:
	Revenue Generation:
	1. Increase to Application Fee
	2. Increase to Inactive Certificate Fee
	3. Increase to General Certificate Fee
	Cost Reductions:
	1. Reduction of current external investigation expenses
	2. Reduction in IT development costs
	3. Reduction in space costs
	Details:   Increase to GC fee by $100 in 2023, $75 in 2024 and $75 in 2025.
	COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #1:  REDUCTION IN EXTERNAL INVESTIGATION COSTS
	COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #2: REDUCTION IN IT DEVELOPMENT COSTS
	COST REDUCTION PROPOSAL #3: REDUCTION IN SPACE COSTS
	Executive Committee consideration
	All of the Executive Committee supported the application, inactive and 2023 fee increases.  The majority of the Executive Committee also supported the 2024 and 2025 fee increases.  There was discussion about the amount of the 2024 and 2025 fee increas...
	By-law No. 7 Revisions
	Should Council approve the proposed fees, By-law No. 7 will require revision.  The proposed revision is as follows:
	Given that the proposed fee increases are more than inflation, circulation of the by-law will be required between May and September Council.  The fee for 2023 needs to be approved at September Council, prior to the 2023 annual renewal process.
	By-Law No. 7, Schedule A:  Miscellaneous Fee Schedule
	As part of the overall review of fees, staff will reviewing the miscellaneous fee schedule.  The miscellaneous fees are primarily administrative in nature and will be reviewed to determine when they were last raised and whether they sufficiently cover...
	Under section 18 of the by-law, the Registrar sets the miscellaneous fees, maintains the schedule of fees and advises Council of both the schedule and any changes made to it.
	Accordingly, any changes to the miscellaneous fee schedule will be brought to September Council for information.
	MOTIONS:
	Attachments:
	Attachment 1: By-Law No. 7 – Fees – Proposed Revisions
	Attachment 2: By-Law No. 7 – Schedule A
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	7.1.2 By-law No. 7 Fees - Schedule A
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